NUTRITIONAL AND SENSORY QUALITY OF EXTRUDED OAT, SOYBEAN AND LINSEED COMPLEMENTARY INSTANT FOOD

M.Sc. THESIS

HAILE TESFAYE

JUNE, 2016 JIMMA, ETHIOPIA

NUTRITIONAL AND SENSORY QUALITY OF EXTRUDED OAT, SOYBEAN AND LINSEED COMPLEMENTARY INSTANT FOOD

M.Sc. Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Post Harvest Management (Perishable)

By

Haile Tesfaye

JUNE, 2016 JIMMA, ETHIOPIA

APPROVAL SHEET

Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine, Department of Post Harvest Management

Thesis Submission for External Defense Request Form (F-07)

Name of Student:Haile TesfayeID No. M.Sc. 06049/06Program of Study:M.Sc. In Postharvest Management

Title: - Nutritional and Sensory Quality of Extruded Oat, Soybean and Linseed Complementary Instant Food.

I have completed my Thesis research work as per the approved proposal and it has been evaluated and accepted by my advisors. Hence, I hereby kindly request the department to allow me to present the findings of my work and submit the Thesis.

Name and signature of student <u>Haile Tesfaye</u> Signature_____Date _____

We, the Thesis advisors have evaluated the contents of this Thesis and found to be satisfactory, executed according to the approved proposal, written according to the standards and format of the university, and are ready to be submitted. Hence, we recommend the Thesis to be submitted.

Major Advisor: Prof. Tefera Belachew	(MD, M.Sc., PhD) signature	date	
Co-Advisor: Sirawdink Fikreyesus (P	hD Scholar) signature	date	
Decision/suggestion of department gra	duate council (DGC)		
Chairperson of DGC Name	Signature	Date	

DEDICATION

This thesis manuscript is dedicated to my beloved father and brother who separated from me without seeing my fruits, to those who passed away from this world due to malnutrition in Ethiopia and finally I want to dedicate this thesis to those who scarify their life for the freedom of human being.

STATEMENT OF THE AUTHOR

I, the undersigned, declare that this Thesis is my work and is not submitted to any institution elsewhere for the award of any academic degree, diploma or certificate and all sources of materials used for this Thesis have been duly acknowledged. This Thesis has been submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for M.Sc. degree at Jimma University, College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine and is deposited at the University Library to be made available to borrowers under the rules of the library.

Brief quotations from this Thesis are allowable without special permission provided that an accurate acknowledgment of the source is made. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this manuscript in whole or in part may be granted by the Dean or Coordinator of the School of Graduate Studies or Head of the Department of Post Harvest Management when the proposed use of material is in the interest of scholarship. In all other cases, however, permission must be obtained from the author.

Name: Haile Tesfaye Place: Jimma University, Jimma Date of submission: _____ Signature_____

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

The author Haile Tesfaye was born October 1990 to his mother Mrs. Workitu Yadessa and Father Mr. Tesfaye Duguma in Muger, West Showa Oromia Regional State. He attended his elementary education at Muger Mekoda School from 1998-2006, upon completing his primary school education, he joined his secondary and preparatory education at Muger community high and preparatory school from 2006 to 2010. The author started his university education at Jimma University in September 2010 and graduated with Bachelor of Science degree (B.Sc.) in post harvest management in June 2013. After his graduation he directly joined Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine in September 2013 again to pursue his graduate study in Post Harvest Management specializing in perishable crops.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I thank the almighty God who gave me strength, endurance and enabling me to overcome all the challenges during my study for successful completion of my research work.

I am very grateful to Professor Tefera Belachew, for the direction of this work and his continuous support. I would like to express my appreciation and heartfelt gratitude to Mr. Sirawdink Fikireyesus who offered me the opportunity to carry out this thesis, for his generous support and help throughout this thesis, his very valuable comments on the manuscript.

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Post Harvest Management Department and Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine (JUCAVM) for giving me an opportunity to pursue my M.Sc. study in post harvest management through the PHMIL project funded by CIDA and RELOAD project for funding research budget. I would like to acknowledge Ethiopian Health and Nutrition Research Institute, Bahir Dar University and Debira Zeyit Agriculture laboratory for their all rounded facilitation and support to execute the experimental work timely.

My special thanks go to Sinana Agricultural research center, Kulmsa Agricultural Research Center, Debrezeit Agricultural Research Center, Jimma Agriculture research center and Alage TVET College for giving the raw materials for the thesis work. My deep appreciation also goes to laboratory technicians, my friends and all Post Harvest Management staff for encouraging and supporting me during the thesis work.

Finally, I would like to express my heartfelt acknowledgment to my family for their generous and unlimited support throughout my life and academic career. Lastly, but not least I want to express my thanks to those whom I forgot to mention his or her name.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALA	Alpha linolenic acid	
ANF	Anti Nutritional Factor	
AOAC	Association of Official Analytical Chemists	
BD	Bulk Density	
CSA	Central Statistics Agency	
EPHI	Ethiopian Public Health Institute	
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization	
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein	
HTST	High Temperature, Short-Time	
LDL	Low-Density Lipoprotein	
LDPE	Low Density Poly ethylene	
MOFED	Ministry of Finance and Economic Development,	
MUFA	Mono Unsaturated Fatty Acid	
PEM	Protein Energy Malnutrition	
RDA	Required Daily Allowance	
RTE	Ready to Eat	
SNNP	South Nation and Nationality's of People	
TVET	Technical and Vocational Education and Training	
USDA	United States Development Agency	
WAC	Water Absorption Capacity	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents	pages
DEDICATION	iii
STATEMENT OF THE AUTHOR	iv
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH	v
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LISTS OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
LISTS OF TABLES IN APDENDEX	xiv
LIST OF APPENDIX IN FIGURE	xv
ABSTRACT	xvi
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background	1
1.2. Statement of the Problem	4
1.3. Research Questions	5
1.4. Objectives	6
1.4.1. General objectives	6
1.4.2. Specific objectives	6
1.5. Significance of the Study	6
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1. Child Malnutrition	7
2.2. Complementary Foods and Problems during Complementing	
2.3. Recommended Dietary Allowance for Infants and Children	10
2.4. Nutritional Composition of Ingredients Used in Extruded Composite Flour	11
2.4.1. Cereals	11
2.4.2. Legumes	14

TABLE OF CONTENT(Continoued)

2.4.3. Oilseeds	16
2.4.4. Premix	17
2.4.4.1. Moringa (Moringa stenopetala)	18
2.4.4.2. Fenugreek (Trigonella foenum-graecum L.)	19
2.4.4.3. Salt and sugar	20
2.5. Extrusion	21
2.5.1. Processing parameters affecting extruded products	22
2.5.2. Physical and chemical changes during extrusion process	23
2.5.2.1. Physical change during extrusion process	23
2.5.2.2. Effect of extrusion on the nutritional properties of extrudates	24
2.5.2.3. Effect of extrusion on the antinutritional properties of extruded products	25
2.6. Instant Flour	27
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	28
3.1. Description of the Study Site	28
3.2. Experimental Materials	28
3.2.1 Oat	29
3.2.2. Soybean	29
3.2.3. Linseed	29
3.2.4. Premix	30
3.2.4.1. Moringa	30
3.2.4.2. Fenugreek	30
3.2.4.3. Sugar and salt	30
3.3. Sample Preparation	31
3.3.1. Oat flour preparation	31
3.3.2. Soybean flour preparation	32
3.3.3. Flaxseed (linseed) flour preparation	32
3.3.4. Fenugreek flour preparation	32
3.3.5. Moringa leaf powder preparation	33
3.4. Experimental Design and Treatment Combinations	35
3. 5. Extrusion Processing	36

TABLE OF CONTENT(Continoued)

3.6. Preparation of Gruel	37
3.7. Analysis Methods	38
3.7.1 Proximate analysis	38
3.7.1.1. Moisture content determination	38
3.7.1.2. Ash determination	38
3.7.1.3. Crude fat determination	39
3.7.1.4. Protein determination	39
3.7.1.5. Crude fiber determination	40
3.7.1.6. Carbohydrate Determination by difference	41
3.7.1.7. Gross Energy	41
3.7.2. Mineral Analyses	41
3.7.3. ß-carotene determination	42
3.7.4. Anti nutrient determinations	43
3.7.4.1. Phytate content determination	43
3.7.4.2. Tannin content determination	43
3.7.5. Functional Properties Determinations	44
3.7.5.1. Water Absorption Capacity	44
3.7.5.2. Bulk density determination	44
3.7.6. Sensory evaluation	45
3.8. Statistical Analysis	45
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	46
4.1 Proximate Compositions of Instant Complementary Flour	46
4.1.1. Moisture content	47
4.1.2. Crude fiber content	48
4.1.3. Protein content	50
4.1.4. Fat content	52
4.1.5. Ash content	53
4.1.6. Carbohydrate content	55
4.1.7. Gross Energy	56
4.2. Mineral Content of Instant Complementary Flour	58

TABLE OF CONTENT(Continoued)

4.2.1. Calcium
4.2.2. Iron
4.2.3. Zinc
4.3. β-carotene content of Instant Complementary Flour
4.4. Anti-Nutritional Factors of Instant Complementary Flour
4.5.1. Phytate
4.5.2. Tannin
4.5. Functional Properties of Complementary instant Flour
4.4.1. Bulk density
4.4.2. Water Absorption Capacity
4.6. Sensory Quality of Gruel Made from Instant Complementary Flour
4.6.1. Appearance
4.6.2. Aroma
4.6.3. Taste
4.6.4. Mouth feel77
4.6.5. Consistency
4.6.6. Overall acceptability
4.7. Optimal Mixture
4.7.1. Optimization based on nutritional composition
4.7.2. Optimization based on sensory evaluation
4.7.3. Overall optimal mixture compositions
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS
5.1. Summary
5.2. Conclusion
6. FUTURE LINE OF WORK
7. REFERENCES
8. APPENDICES

LISTS OF TABLES

Table 1: Recommended dietary allowance for infants and children per day	. 10
Table 2: Nutritional composition of whole grain oat and oat bran per 100gm	. 13
Table 3: Mineral composition of oats in (100 gm)	. 14
Table 4: Effect of extrusion on antinutrients contents of different crops	. 26
Table 5: Selection criteria of ingredients used for formulation	. 31
Table 6: Treatment combination of oat, soybean, linseed and premix of composite flours	. 35
Table 7: lower and upper limits of ingredients in mixture design	. 35
Table 8: Proximate composition and energy contents (kcal/100g) of the instant	
complementary flour	. 46
Table 9: Mineral content of instant complementary flour	. 58
Table 10: β-carotene content of the instant compelementary flour	. 63
Table 11: Anti nutritional factor contents of instant complementary flour	. 64
Table 12: Functional properties of instant complementary flour	. 68
Table 13: Mean score of sensory result of gruel evaluated by panelist.	. 71

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Flow diagram of sample preparation and processing
Figure 2: Simplex design plots for the 3-component mixture formulations
Figure 3: Contour plot of a moisture content (%) of instant complementary flour 47
Figure 4: Contour plot of crude fiber content (%) of instant complementary flour
Figure 5: Contour plot of protein content (%) of instant complementary flour
Figure 6: Contour plot of fat content (%) of instant complementary flour
Figure 7: Contour plot of ash content (%) of instant complementary flour
Figure 8: Contour plot of carbohydrate content (%) of instant complementary flour 55
Figure 9: Contour plot of energy content (kcal) of instant complementary flour
Figure 10: Contour plots of Calcium contents (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour . 59
Figure 11: Contour plots of iron contents (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour 61
Figure 12: Contour plots of zinc contents (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour 62
Figure 13: Contour plot of phytate content (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour 66
Figure 14: Contour plot of tannin content (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour 67
Figure 15: Contour plot of bulk density (g/ml) of instant complementary flour 69
Figure 16: Contour plot of WAC in (ml) of instant complementary flour70
Figure 17: Contour plot of appearance (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel
Figure 18: Contour plot of aroma (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel
Figure 19: Contour plot of taste (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel76
Figure 20: Contour plot of mouth feel (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel
Figure 21: Contour plot of consistency (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel
Figure 22: Contour plot of overall acceptability (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel
Figure 23: Overlaid contour plots of instant complementary flour nutrional composition 81
Figure 24: Overlaid contour plots of instant complementary flour gruel sensory attributes 82
Figure 25: Overlaid contour plots of instant complementary flour nutritional composition and
gruel sensory attributes'

LISTS OF TABLES IN APDENDEX

Appendix table 1: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for proximate composition and energy. 104
Appendix table 2: Estimated regression coefficients of proximate compositions and energy
contents of instant complementary flour
Appendix table 3: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for minerals and beta carotene contents 104
Appendix table 4: Estimated regression coefficients of minerals and beta carotene contents of
instant complementary flour
Appendix table 5: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for antinutrional factor and functional
properties
Appendix table 6: Estimated regression coefficients of anti-nutritional factors and functional
properties of instant complementary flour
Appendix table 7: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) p-values for sensory acceptability value of
the gruel
Appendix table 8: Estimated regression coefficients of sensory acceptability of instant
complementary gruel
Appendix table 9: Sensory evaluation questionnaire form 108

LIST OF APPENDIX IN FIGURE

Appendix figure 1: Beta Carotene Standard Curve	106
Appendix figure 2: Phytate standard curve	107
Appendix figure 3: Tannin standard curve	107

ABSTRACT

In Ethiopia child malnutrition is enormous challenge. Besides preparation and processing method, one of the major problems associated with macro and micronutrient deficiency in traditional complementary food is that, it is only from cereal source. Using blends of cereal, pulse and oilseed extruded composite flour(ECF) can solve these problems by improving nutritional quality; reducing macro and micro-nutrient deficiencies and producing safe and instant complementary food that needs minimum cooking time to reduce loss of heat liable nutrients. The blend of oat, soybean, linseed flour and premix (sugar, salt, moringa & fenugreek) composite flour was developed. Thirteen formulations of the composite flour were generated using D-optimal constrained mixture design with a range of oat 55-65%, soybean 11-23%, linseed 6-11% and 15%. A premix was added in equal proportion to all treatments to improve taste, flavor, mineral and vitamin. The blend was extrusion cooked at 130°C barrel temperature(BT), 150 rpm screw speed, (with the feeder delivering a feed rate of 5.1g/min; feed moisture content in the extruder barrel was 17% (170 g/kg). Nutritional and sensory qualities of the ECF were investigated using standard methods. The major responses of nutritional composition (protein, fat, carbohydrate, energy, β -carotene, iron, zinc and calcium, anti-nutritional factors (phytate and tannin), functional proprieties (bulk density, water absorption capacity) and sensory quality were analyzed. The results showed a significant (P < 0.05) difference in fat, protein, carbohydrate, ash, fiber, calcium, phytate, tannin, water absorption capacity (WAC) and bulk density of the ECF. The protein, fat, energy, tannin, phytate and mineral contents of the ECF increased with increasing ratio of soybean and linseed. However sensory acceptability and β - carotene content was decreased with increasing proportion of soybean in the blend. There was significant (P < 0.05) difference for aroma, taste, and consistency and over all acceptability of the gruel but appearance and mouth feel showed no difference for gruels. The blend ratios at 58.4%, 18.4% and 8.2% oat, soybean and linseed respectively were selected as overall optimum blend ratio with desirable nutritional composition which varied between 19.0-20.64% protein, 8-9.9% fat, carbohydrate 60.92- 63.7, 394.98-408.2kcal energy, 110- 124.4 mg/100 g calcium, 7-7.8 mg/100 g iron, 2.96-3.0 mg/100 g zinc, 1600- 1900.3 μg/100 g, β- carotene and sensory attributes 3.75-4 overall acceptability (5 point hedonic scale). Extrusion cooked oat, soybean linseed blend enriched with premix showed significant improvement in the nutritional quality and sensory attributes. The result revealed that, the blend had good potential of improving protein, fat, energy, zinc, iron, & β -carotene of complementary food. Hence, using this optimum amount of formulation can enrich the nutritional value of CF.

Keywords: Complementary Food, Extrusion Cooking, Instant Flour, Optimization, premix

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background

Malnutrition among children is the major health challenges in developing countries; it is evident that high prevalence of deaths each year among children aged less than five years old in the developing world is associated with malnutrition (Ijarotimi and Keshinro, 2012). This nutrition problem is ascribed to the inappropriate complementary feeding practices, low nutritional quality of traditional complementary foods and high cost of quality protein-based complementary foods (Eka *et al.*, 2010).

Globally, under nutrition in children is highly prevalent and remains a big challenge. According to United Nations FAO estimates, 11.11% of world populations were suffering from chronic undernourishment in 2012-2014 (FAO, 2014). Beyond all, children are the most visible victims of under nutrition. According to United Nations Children's Fund report, 25% and 8% of under-five year old children were estimated to be stunted and wasted respectively (UNICEF, 2014b). Similarly malnutrition child is an enormous challenge in Ethiopia.

In Ethiopia About 33.6 percent of the Ethiopian population are living below poverty line and cannot meet their daily minimum nutritional requirement of 2200 calories (MOFED, 2013). Based on recent Ethiopian demographic and health survey mini report, nationally 40%, 25% and 9% of children under age five were stunted, underweight and wasted respectively (CSA, 2014).

To overcome malnutrition problem a variety of complementary foods are available with high nutritive value, which are directly used for instant preparation of gruels. However these products are beyond the economic means of most families. So mothers use traditional cereal based gruel, as complementary foods for infants. These gruels usually have low energy density and poor protein, vitamin and mineral contents (Njongmeta *et al.*, 2003).

Complementary food could be improved by combining locally available food that complement each other in such a way that the new pattern of amino acids created by this combination is similar to that recommended for infants (Mensa-Wilmot *et al.*, 2001).

Thus; cereals and pulses play a predominant role in diets of developing countries. The use of cereal, pulse based food has long been advocated as alternative protein and energy source for children food products. Protein quality is a critically important problem in many developing countries, where human diets consist mainly of cereals (Serna-Saldivar and Rooney, 1995). The use of legume and oil seed in addition to cereal has been identified as a means of solving the problem of malnutrition associated with the consumption of cereal products (Ikujenlola and Fashakin, 2005).

Oat belongs to the Poaceae family, its unique among the cereals; with one of the rich sources of dietary fibers among cereals (Butt *et al.*, 2008). Oat grain when compared to wheat or rye grains is characterized by unusual nutritional composition (Butt *et al.*, 2008; Angioloni and Collar, 2012), because it contains a beneficial combination of nutritional compounds. Lipid content in oat grain is 2- 3 times higher than in other cereals (Butt *et al.*, 2008; Angioloni and Collar, 2012). Moreover it is characterized by high protein content(Butt *et al.*, 2008; Gambuś *et al.*, 2011). Unique nutritional composition of oat grain contributes to growing worldwide interest in this cereal in aspect of human nutrition (Klava *et al.*, 2007).

Grain legumes or pulses (including soybeans) are rich and low-cost sources of dietary proteins and nutrients for a large part of the world's population (Egounlety and Aworh, 2003). Soybeans is an excellent source of protein (about 35-40%), hence the seed is the richest in food value of all plant foods consumed in the world. It is a very rich source of vegetable protein for all including growing children (Dandago and Igwe, 2006) and it has been identified as a suitable protein rich crop that could improve the nutritional and economic status of the general population in developing countries (Babajide *et al.*, 2003). Soybeans have great potential in overcoming protein-calorie malnutrition. Linseed has been used as a precious nutritional product and as a traditional medicine from ancient times. It is richest source of alpha-linolenic acid, lignans and other nutritional components. Flaxseed has an amino acid profile comparable to that of soybean flour and contains no gluten (Hongzhi *et al.*, 2004).

Composition of flaxseed makes it more promising for its utilization in different food products. Flaxseed is one of the richest vegetarian sources of α - linolenic acid (omega 3 fatty acid) and soluble mucilage. In present era, consumer's trend towards functional food has increased significantly as health awareness rose.

Fenugreek is locally used as a pulse, spice and medicinal plant, and has a long history in Ethiopia (Gall and Zerihun 2009). Fenugreek seed can be utilized for value addition of cereals based food products to attain multiple benefits. It is used as a condiment and as a supplement to wheat and maize flour for bread making and as a constituent of the daily diet of general population.

Moringa is a "miracle plant" that has almost all the minerals and vitamins that the body needs for good health. The leaves, pods and flowers of this plant which are used as vegetable in many parts of the world have great nutritional value (Fuglie, 2001). Moringa leaves and pods can be an extremely valuable source of nutrients for people of all ages. The leaves can be dried, made into powder and stored for use when needed (Olusola, 2006).

Various processing technique have been used to prepare complementary food, fermentation, sprouting/germination, extrusion and less often toasting (Obizoba and Ati, 1991). Extrusion is a powerful food processing operation, which utilizes high temperature and high shear force to produce a product with unique physical and chemical characteristics (Pansawat *et al.*, 2008). Extrusion is able to break the covalent bonds in biopolymers, and the intense structural disruption and mixing which facilitate the modification of functional properties of food ingredients (Singh *et al.*, 2007).

In addition, the hot extrusion process denatures undesirable enzymes; inactivates some antinutritional factors (trypsin inhibitors, tannins and phytates); sterilizes the finished product; and retains natural colors and flavors of foods (Singh *et al.*, 2007). The combination of high throughput rates, energy efficiency and versatility results in the potential for improved cost effectiveness and process rationalization over traditional production methods. In Africa, due to deforestation by utilization of wood for fuel, there is a great need for precooked foods (Pelembe *et al.*, 2002).

Various technologies are being used to develop "Instant foods" and extrusion is an important technology for processing grain-based products and adds immense value to raw material. High-Temperature, Short-Time (HTST) extrusion cooking could be used to produce foods of high nutritional quality and in a ready-to-eat form. A simple, convenient, easy and quick to prepare food product besides being hygienic, free from microbial contamination and also convenient to eat is 'Instant food' (Tamlurkar, 2006). Low cost and nutritious instant foods can be developed using major crops in the country which may be blended or supplemented with each other to provide complete nutrition. Instant foods are prepared from almost all available food grains, either alone or supplemented with fruits, vegetables, legumes, oilseeds, flavoring agents, coloring agents, preservatives, etc.

Generally in addition to nutritional value extrudates are microbiologically safe, can be stored for long periods because of low moisture without need for refrigeration and requires less labor for handling and less packaging materials and storage space (Filli and Nkama, 2007).

1.2. Statement of the Problem

Adoption of recommended breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices and access to the appropriate quality and quantity of foods are essential conditions for fulfilling optimal nutrition for infants and young children (PAG, 1972). Nutritionally, it has been proven that breast milk is a complete and perfect food for the infant during the first six months of life (Lutter and Rivera, 2003). After 6 months breast milk alone can no longer be sufficient both in terms of quantity and quality to meet the nutritional requirements of infants, hence, appropriate complementary foods should be introduced (UNICEF, 2009).

In developing countries, including Ethiopia many families cannot afford commercial complementary foods to wean their infants due to high level of poverty, and thereby engage in weaning the children on cereals gruels (Ikpeme-Emmanuel *et al.*, 2012).

Scientific findings have shown that cereal gruels are the common complementary foods in developing countries, which is characterized by low energy density and protein due to large volume of water relative to its solid matter contents during preparation (Inyang and Zakari, 2008; Igyor *et al.*, 2011). To increase the energy density of the gruel, more of the solid matter are needed, which will makes the gruel too thick and viscous for infant to eat and too bulky for their stomach. As a result, infants are unable to fulfill their energy and other essential nutrients requirements (Ikujenlola & Fashakin, 2005), hence, there is increased in protein-energy malnutrition among weaning children.

In Ethiopia poor feeding practices, methods of complementary food processing and shortfall in food intake are the most important direct factors responsible for malnutrition and illness among children. The presence of non-nutrient constituents (anti-nutritional factors) in plantbased foods has been shown to also negatively influence the bioavailability of nutrients. In addition, a combination of nutritionally inferior diets, improper processing and improper feeding practices are also major contributing factors to the development of childhood malnutrition (Jacobs and Rubery 1988. Poor processing methods and hygiene have also been identified as other factors responsible for low nutrient density in local complementary foods due to knowledge gap about simple processing techniques to produce nutritious food.

Therefore, there is the need to develop nutritious, storage stable and affordable complementary food from locally available raw materials by application household or small to medium scale production technologies had been strongly recommended as a viable and sustainable approach to address the problem of malnutrition. In addition, developing ready to eat infant food that need minimal processing and safe to eat is valuable way of tackling child malnutrition.

1.3. Research Questions

The study tried to answer the following questions:

- 1. Does the extruded composite flour meet nutrient requirements of infant?
- 2. Are the extruded composite flour's gruel sensory attribute are acceptable?

1.4. Objectives

1.4.1. General objectives

To develop extrusion cooked composite flour for better nutritional composition, sensory attributes and less anti nutritional factor

1.4.2. Specific objectives

- **4** To develop instant composite flour from locally available raw materials
- **4** To evaluate nutritional composition of extrusion cooked composite flour
- 4 To evaluate functional properties and anti nutritional factors of extruded composite flour
- **4** To determine sensory acceptance of gruel prepared from extruded composite flour
- To determine the optimum blend of oat, soybean and linseed flour with suitable nutritional quality and sensory acceptability.

1.5. Significance of the Study

Children are the country's hope of tomorrow. For intelligent and brilliant child to be developed early complementary feeding play a determinant role. Adequate nutrition during infancy and early childhood is fundamental to the development of each child's full human potential. To improve nutritional requirements of infant, the status of lactating mother in feeding children, complementary food given and processing techniques of complementary food is crucial, therefore this study was carried out with the intent of developing nutritious instant composite flour which can meet minimum nutrient requirements of infants. Developing instant nutritious infant flour is one way of reducing malnutrition, it minimizes nutrients loss due to high cooking temperature and it saves time of cooking, in addition it creates job opportunities for small scale micro enterprise who want to produce instant composite flour from locally available materials. This will have contribution to the solution of the pervasively high level of stunting among children that sets in during the complementary feeding Period.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Child Malnutrition

Child malnutrition is the most devastating problem currently facing the majority of the world's poor. The level of under nutrition among children remains unacceptable throughout the world, with large number of children living in developing world (WHO, 2008). The major risk factors associated with infant and early childhood mortality and morbidity are poor infant feeding practices as well as childhood and maternal under-nutrition (WHO, 2009).

Prevalence of Protein Energy Malnutrition (PEM) in infants after six months of age is high in Africa (Lalude and Fashakin, 2006). This is because infants at this stage of development require higher energy and proteins in their diet so as to meet the increasing demand for metabolism. Protein energy malnutrition is an important nutritional deficiency condition that often occurs during the critical transitional phase of complementary food infants, complementary crippling their physical and mental growth. This condition can be prevented to a large extent by introducing complementary foods of good quality and quantity at right proportion and at right stage.

Complementary feeding period is the time when malnutrition starts in many infants, contributing significantly to the high prevalence of malnutrition in children less than 5 years of age worldwide (Daelmans and Saadeh, 2003). Poor feeding practices as well as lack of suitable complementary foods are responsible for under nutrition with poverty exacerbating the whole issue. In developing countries, children are mostly weaned on starchy, bulky gruels which are characterized by both low energy and low nutrient density.

Malnutrition remains one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality among children throughout the world (WHO, 2008). Particularly stunting, is still a severe public health problem in Sub Saharan Africa. For example, about 35 % of preschoolers are stunted; while 29 % are underweight in Sub-Saharan Africa (Leenstra *et al.*, 2005). UNICEF (2009) reported that more than 4.6 million annual deaths of children occur in Africa due to malnutrition.

Ethiopia is one of the countries in the Sub-Saharan Africa with the highest rates of malnutrition in children (Taylor, 2012). Under nutrition is currently the most wide spread and serious health problem of children. In Ethiopia, 40 and 9% of below five years children are stunted and wasted, respectively (CSA, 2014). A higher rate of child under five years mortality due to protein-energy malnutrition is also reported in Ethiopia (Government of the Federal Democratic of Ethiopia, 2008) and Sudan (Asma *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, pocket studies on micronutrient deficiencies indicate higher prevalence of iron and zinc deficiency especially in young children.

In general, rural children and children of uneducated mothers are more likely to be stunted, wasted, or underweight than other children (CSA and Macro, 2006). Regional variation in nutritional status of children is substantial. Stunting levels are above the national average in Amhara and SNNP. Wasting is higher than the national average in Somali, Benishangul-Gumuz, Amhara, Tigray and Dire Dawa. The percentage of underweight children is above the national average in Somali, Amhara, Tigray and Benishangul-Gumuz (CSA and Macro, 2006).

2.2. Complementary Foods and Problems during Complementing

Complementary foods are foods other than breast milk that is given to a breastfeeding child (Agostoni *et al.*, 2008). WHO (2001) also states that any nutrient containing foods or liquids other than breast milk given to young children during the period of complementary feeding are defined as complementary foods and the period during which other foods or liquids are provided along with breast milk is called the complementary feeding period. The transition from milk to solid or adult food is a critical period in the life of a child as the complementary feeding practices by the mother profoundly determines the child's growth and development (Olorunfemi *et al.*, 2006). This period which could start from four to six months of age, varies from one socioeconomic status to the other.

The ability of breast milk to meet the requirements for macronutrients and micronutrients becomes limited with increasing age of infant. The use of local foods formulated in the home and guided by the following principles: high nutritional value to supplement breastfeeding, acceptability, low price, and use of local food items is one of the major strategy to overcome

child malnutrition and death (Dewey and Brown, 2003; Pelto *et al.*, 2003). In order to solve these nutritional problems, several efforts have been made to formulate complementary foods from local food materials; however, it is evident recently that there is heavy reliance on most of these food materials thereby leading to inaccessibility by many mothers as a result of the cost of the materials and mode of production processes (Ijarotimi, 2008). Thus most families have to depend on the local material and technology for the preparation of complementary foods.

Infant foods in many parts of Ethiopia are cereal or root crop-based because these are major components of the family's diet. Timely introduction of complementary foods during infancy is necessary for both nutritional and developmental reasons, and to enable the transition from milk feeding to family foods. It also has effect on growth and neurodevelopment. Complementary food should not be introduced in any infant before 17 weeks and all infants should start complimentary feeding by 26 weeks.

One of the major nutritional problems faced by young children in African during the complementary feeding period is that complementary foods (which are commonly prepared in the form of porridges) made from the major staple foods (mainly cereals and roots and tubers) have low nutrient density, mainly because they are high in unmodified starch and low in fat. A young child must consume a large volume of this porridge if its energy and other nutrient requirements are to be met during the period when breast milk alone is insufficient. Many children are unable to eat such quantities mainly by virtue of their small stomachs, resulting in insufficient intakes of energy, protein, and other nutrients (Badau *et al.*, 2006).

Traditional complementary foods are typically watery gruels of low energy density and protein content. Often they are not consumed immediately after preparation. Unhygienic conditions of preparation and storage may lead to infection with enteropathogenic bacteria. Infants in the complementary feeding period are potentially at risk in developing countries, and many nutritional problems arise with the introduction of solids.

The preservation process, poor hygiene sanitation and inadequate knowledge of complementary food preservation introduce the risks of gastrointestinal and parasitic infection because of the heavy contamination of foodstuffs with infecting organisms.

In addition, too early introduction of complementary foods may lead to diarrhoea through the ingestion of thin, contaminated feed with insufficient calorie and protein. Too late introduction may lead to under nutrition owing to insufficient milk intake.

2.3. Recommended Dietary Allowance for Infants and Children

Good nutrition is the key to ensuring that growth and development proceeds optimally. Infants require all the essential vitamins and minerals and also need adequate amounts of calories and protein. The Recommended Dietary Allowance (RDA) is an estimate of the minimum daily average dietary intake level that meets the nutrient requirements of nearly all 97 to 98 percent healthy individuals in a particular life stage and gender group. The RDA is intended to be used as a goal for daily intake by individuals as this value estimates an intake level that has a high probability of meeting the requirement of individual about 97.5 % (Food and Nutrition Board, 2005).

Nutrient	0-6 Months	7-12 Months	1-3 Years
Energy (calories)	520-570	676-743	992-1046
Protein (g)	9.1	13.5	13
Fat (g)	31	30	Nd
Carbohydrate (g)	65	90	130
Vitamin A (µg RE)	400	500	300
Calcium (mg)	200	260	700
Iron (mg)	.27	11	7
Zinc (mg)	2	3	3
Iodine (µg)	110	130	90

Table 1: Recommended dietary allowance for infants and children per day

Source; Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, 2005

2.4. Nutritional Composition of Ingredients Used in Extruded Composite Flour

Cereals and legumes are the two most important flowering plants used in agriculture. Most cereal grains are higher proportionally in the sulfur bearing amino acids. When soy is blended with cereals, the resulting balance of sulfur bearing amino acids with the other essential amino acids is substantially improved. Popelka *et al.* (2004) reported that lysine which is very high in soy is low in most cereal grains. Thus, the final amino acid balance of mixture of soy with other products generally results in an improved protein nutritional value of soy and a far superior nutritional value of the other products with soy.

According to Omima *et al.* (2010), legume seed grain proteins are the natural supplement to cereal grain protein in producing and overall essential amino acid balance. The protein quality cereals can be improved by combining it with other rich sources of protein (Popelka *et al.*, 2004). Oilseeds are leading suppliers of superior quality and specialty vegetable oils to nutritional products, natural food and premium snack food worldwide.

2.4.1. Cereals

Cereals are widely utilized as food in African countries than in the developed world (Makinde and Ladipo, 2012). Compositionally cereals consist of carbohydrate and less in amount of protein and essential minerals. Cereal grains are considered to be one of the most important sources of dietary proteins, carbohydrates, vitamins, minerals and fiber for people in developing countries. However, the nutritional quality of cereals and sensorial properties of their products are sometimes inferior or poor in comparison with milk and milk products. This is because cereal is deficient in certain essential amino acids (*i.e.*, lysine and tryptophan), and additionally is characterized by low starch availability, presence of anti-nutrients (phytic acid, tannins and polyphenols) and the coarse nature of the grains (Vasal, 2001).

Oat

Oat is belonging to the *Poacea* family (Butt *et al.*, 2008). Oats have been used in the Nordic diet for almost two thousand years. However, they have been replaced more and more by other cereals since the beginning of the 19th century. Nowadays oats have regained a new interest due to its health-promoting effects (Duss and Nyberg, 2004).

Oats are a difficult raw material for bread making due to the absence of gluten compared for example to wheat. Therefore, oats are often used in porridge, breakfast cereals or in baking blended with wheat flour (Butt *et al.*, 2008). Oat products are consumed as ingredients in baked foods or in porridge for many years due to their high percentage of nutritious protein (Rzedzicki *et al.*, 2000).

In comparison to other cereals, these are characterized constitute large amount of total protein, carbohydrate (primary starch content), crude fat, dietary fiber (non-starch), unique antioxidants and considerable vitamins and mineral content. Oats are the source of low cost protein with a protein content of 15-20% (dry matter basis) in dehulled oat grain. Moreover, people suffer from coeliac disease can tolerate oat protein due to the absence of gluten (Ahokas *et al.*, 2005). Nowadays the interest of using oats in designing food products is increasing due to the high amounts of soluble fiber, i.e., β -glucan (Mohamed *et al.*, 2009).

Oat β -glucans are able to influence lipid mechanism in human organisms and lower the total level of cholesterol in blood. Several studies have showed that food products containing oat β -glucan can have a cholesterol-lowering effect (Wood *et al.*, 2007). Oat β -glucans not only decrease the total blood cholesterol, but also decrease the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and increase high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol. LDL is often termed as bad cholesterol, while HDL is regarded as good cholesterol. Due to such health promoting properties, oat products have gained popularity to become as a part of human diet either as whole or as a fractionated form mostly as ready-to-eat (RTE) breakfast cereals, snack foods or bread (Mirmoghatadaie *et al.*, 2009). Snack foods have become a part of the lifestyle especially in the Western countries and cereal grains are generally used as their raw materials. Oats are generally considered healthy, being touted commercially as nutritious which has led to wider appreciation of oats as human food.

A good taste and an activity of stimulating metabolic changes in the body make nutritive value of oats high for both human and animals (Peltonen-Sainio *et al.*, 2004). Total carbohydrate content (including cellulose and non-starch polysaccharides) may reach 75-80% of the dry matter. The amylase content of oat starch ranges 16-18% to 28.5–28.7% (Mirmoghtadaie *et al.*, 2009).

Oats contain a high percentage of protein and balanced composition of amino acids which have proved them highly nutritive in comparison to other cereals (Petkov *et al.*, 2001). Highest protein content occurs in oat grout (12.4 to 24.5%) among cereals. Relatively high protein levels occur in the bran (about 20%) and lower in hull (less than 2%).

Nutrients	Whole grain oat	Oat bran
Protein	15 - 17	15 - 18
Starch and sugars	59 - 70	10 - 50
Fat	4.5	6.5
Total dietary fiber	12	14-15
Ash	3.5	2.4
β-Glucan	2 - 6	5 - 20
Cellulose	14	2.5
Lignin	2.4	4.5

Table 2: Nutritional composition of whole grain oat and oat bran per 100gm

Source: (Usman et al, 2010)

A high lipid content of oats makes them different from other cereals and is a good source of essential unsaturated fatty acid. The percentage varies from 3.1 to 10.9% but in some high oil varieties it may be as high as 15% (Peterson and Wood, 1997). Triglycerides constitute the main component of lipids and phospholipids, glycolipids, sterols are also present in considerable quantities.

Dietary fibers (non-starch polysaccharides) also known as roughage or bulk are the edible parts of the plants and essential constituents of human nutrition. Although they are not a nutrient, they are nevertheless an important component of our diets. Ingested dietary fiber moves along into the large intestine where it is partially or completely fermented by gut bacteria.

Oats comprises a very balanced profile of both soluble and insoluble dietary fibers. A high intake of dietary fiber is positively related to several preventive medical and nutritional effects. Dietary fiber complex with its antioxidants and other phytochemicals is most effective against cardiovascular disease and some types of cancer, lowering lipid levels (Slavin *et al.,* 2000). Mineral content which is 2-3% in oat include phosphorus, potassium, magnesium, and calcium as main components as in other cereal.

mineral	amount (mg)
Calcium	53.85
Iron	4.78
Magnesium	179.22
Phosphorus	529.87
Potassium	434.42
Sodium	1.95
Zinc	4.02
Manganese	4.98
Sources (USDA 2005)	

Table 3: Mineral composition of oats in (100 gm)

Source: (USDA, 2005)

2.4.2. Legumes

On a worldwide basis, legumes contribute about one-third to human direct protein intake, while also serving as an important source of fodder and forage for animals and of edible and industrial oils. Grain legumes or pulses (including soybeans) are rich and low-cost sources of dietary proteins and nutrients for a large part of the world's population. Legumes play an important role in human nutrition as they are rich source of protein, calories, certain minerals and vitamins (Baloch and Zubair, 2010).

It is well documented that cereal proteins are deficient in certain essential amino acids, particularly in lysine (Anjum *et al.*, 2005) whereas legumes contained adequate amount of lysine (Sai-Ut *et al.*, 2009). It is advisable to enhance the protein content of the diet through easily available and accessible plant protein sources especially legumes to improve the nutritional status of the low-income groups of population (Khattab and Arntfield, 2009).

Soybean

The soybean (*Glycine max*) is one of the most important food plants of the world, and seems to be growing in importance. It is an annual crop, fairly easy to grow, that produces more protein and oil. It is a versatile food plant that, used in its various forms, is capable of supplying most nutrients. Soybean protein quality has been the subject of intense investigation for several decades due to soybean's increasing importance as human food resource.

Soybean is often called the "miracle bean" because of its chemical composition and diverse applications for food, feed, and non-food uses. It has an exceptionally high content of both protein and fat (Kim *et al.*, 2008). The oil and protein content together account for about 60 % of the weight of dry soybean flour; protein 37 % and oil 22 % (Kim *et al.*, 2008). The protein and oil component of soybean are not only high in terms of quantity but also in quality. Soybeans is an excellent source of protein (about 35-40%), hence the seed is the richest in food value of all plant foods consumed in the world, which provides all the essential amino acids in the amounts needed for human health (Kure *et al.*, 1998).

Most of the essential amino acid present in soybean is available in an amount that is close to those required by animals and humans. The protein – digestibility – correlated amino acid score is close to 1, a rating that is the same for animal proteins such as an egg white and casein. Soybean is a very rich source of vegetable protein for all including growing children (Dandago and Igwe, 2006); and it has been identified as a suitable protein rich crop that could improve the nutritional and economic status of the general population in developing countries (Babajide *et al.*, 2003).

The amino acid profile of soy protein complements that of cereals (wheat, rice, or corn). Cereals, the main food staple consumed globally contain insufficient quantities of the amino acids lysine, tryptophan, and threonine. Soy protein is particularly valuable because its amino acid composition complements that of cereals. Soybeans are limiting in the sulfur containing amino acids, cystein and methionine, but contain sufficient lysine to overcome the lysine deficiency of cereals (Bair and Snyder, 1980). Soybeans have great potential in overcoming protein-calorie malnutrition. Although soybean is not indigenous to Africa, it has received tremendous popularity as a cheap protein source in developing countries (Nwabueze, 2007).

In addition to excellent nutritional properties, soy protein provides superior "functional "properties for processing. Soy proteins can be processed to become excellent water binders and fat emulsifiers. These properties are especially important when soy protein products such as textured soy protein, soy concentrates, and soy isolates are added to extend or improve the quality of meat products.

Soybeans have been processed in a number of ways, but a more recent processing method is extrusion cooking (Iwe and Ngoddy, 2000). It is a cost-effective processing method that is now widely used to improve the nutritive value of legumes, primarily as a means of reducing the levels of heat-labile, non-nutritive compounds. Baraga *et al.* (1985) indicated high extrusion temperature can affect the molecular structure of tannins and polyphenols. This chemical modification may alter solubility of tannin or chemical reactivity. Extrusion cooking at 150°c and combined effect of other variables on ANFs were reported (Anuonye *et al.*, 2010).

2.4.3. Oilseeds

Oilseeds are leading suppliers of superior quality and specialty vegetable oils to nutritional products, natural food and premium snack food worldwide. The oil content of small grains for example, wheat is only 1 to 2%, but that of oilseeds ranges from about 40% for sunflower and rapeseeds like canola. Seed oils from flax (linseed) and castor bean are used for industrial purposes. They do not contain an appreciable amount of carbohydrate, but, contain high level of B vitamins.

Oilseeds are energy dense foods; although oilseeds contain protein (14-32 g/100 g) and carbohydrate (ranging from less than 1 g/100 g to more than 34 g/100 g), most of the food energy they provide is as fat (which provides 9 kcal or 37 kJ/g). Oilseeds vary widely in their fatty acid composition but tend to be rich in MUFA. Generally, oilseeds are a source of fiber, phosphorus, iron and magnesium; many oilseeds are also a source of vitamin E (an antioxidant), niacin and folate.

Flaxseed (linseed)

Flaxseed, or Linseed (*Linum Usitatissimmum*), is a blue flowering crop and a member of family Linaceae. Globally, Flaxseed is grown as either oil crop or a fiber crop with fiber linen derived from the stem of fiber varieties and oil from the seed of linseed varieties (Vaisey-Genser *et al.*, 2003). The plant is native to west Asia and the Mediterranean. As the source of linen fiber flax has been cultivated since at least 5000 BC, today it is mainly grown for its oil.

Beyond its oilseed crop ability, proximate composition of flaxseed makes it more promising for its utilization in different food products. Flaxseed is one of the richest vegetarian sources of α - linolenic acid (omega 3 fatty acid) and soluble mucilage. Alpha linolenic acid cannot be synthesized by the human body from any other substance therefore it is considered as an essential fatty acid. The essential fatty acids requirements for the human body can be fulfilled by intake of flaxseed products (Morris, 2004).

In present era, consumer's trend towards functional food has increased significantly as health awareness rose. Flaxseed can be one stop for novel high quality source of nutrition. In the World's food supply, flax is making its mark as a functional food. Flax confers its health benefits due to the presence of α -linolenic acid (ALA), the essential ω -3 fatty acid, and phytochemicals such as lignans (Morris, 2004). Flaxseed oil and canola oil have the lowest levels of the nutritionally undesirable saturated fatty acids. The level of the desirable monounsaturated in flax oil is modest.

The major nutritional components of flaxseed include oil, viscous lignan-rich fibres (mucilage), protein and minerals. A100g portion of flaxseed provides 534Kcal energy and contains approximately 7% carbohydrates, 10% protein, 53% total fat and 21% dietary fat. Flaxseed is high in most of the B vitamins, magnesium (Mg) and manganese (Mn) (Dolson, 2010). About 73% of the fatty acids present in flaxseeds are polyunsaturated fatty acids (Madhusudhan, 2009). Flaxseed is a source of good-quality protein and albumins and globulins are the storage proteins of flaxseed with globulins forming the highest portion (58-66% of the total seed protein) (Chung *et al.*, 2005).

2.4.4. Premix

Premixes are combination of different ingredients added in order to meet recommendations for vitamin and mineral contents and confer suitable organoleptic characteristics to the flours. The formula calculations were made with data from food composition tables (Mouquet *et al.*, 2003).

2.4.4.1. Moringa (Moringa stenopetala)

Moringa is a tropical plant belonging to the family *Moringaceae* that grows throughout the tropics. Moringa is a multipurpose tree of significant economic importance, as it has vital nutritional, industrial, and medicinal applications. Moringa was domesticated in the east African lowlands and is indigenous to southern Ethiopia. Many different ecotypes and varieties of moringa are found in Ethiopia. It is native to Ethiopia. Moringa is an important indigenous vegetable in south western Ethiopia where it is cultivated as a food crop. The Gofa, Konso, Burji, and Gamo tribes consume its leaves as a vegetable, especially during the dry season (Abuye *et al.*, 2003).

Moringa is native to Ethiopia, ("Haleko" in Gofa areas, "Shelagda" in the Konso language, and "*Shiferaw*") in Amharic (Seifu, 2015). Moringa is particularly important as human food because the leaves have high nutritional value (high amounts of essential amino acids and vitamins A and C) (Abuye *et al.*, 2003).

Moringa is a favorite and main component of the daily meal of the Konso, Gamo, and Gofa people in southern Ethiopia (Endeshaw, 2003; Personal observation). In the Konso area, moringa leaves are eaten almost every day like spinach together with cereal balls. It was reported that about 50% of the people in the Konso district of southern Ethiopia get their food from moringa (Endeshaw, 2003).

Moringa tree has both nutritional and medicinal values. The leaves, flowers, and green pods of Moringa are eaten as a staple vegetable and are rich in proteins, Ca, Fe, and P. Moringa leaves are rich in protein source, which can be used to solve worldwide malnutrition or under nutrition problems (Thurber and Fahey, 2009). Moringa leaves contain seven times the vitamin C of oranges, four times the vitamin A of carrots, four times the calcium of milk, three times the potassium of bananas, and two times the protein of yoghurt (Mathur, 2005).

Moreover, moringa leaves contain all the essential amino acids (Mathur, 2005; Melesse *et al.*, 2009) and vitamins A and C among others (Mathur, 2005). Hundred grams of dried leaves contain 27.1 g protein, 16.3 mg vitamin A, 17.3 mg vitamin C, 2.0 g calcium, 1.3 g potassium

and 28.2 mg iron, in addition to 19.2 g dietary fiber and several other nutrients.(Fuglie, 2001).

Vitamins are present at nutritionally significant levels averaging 28 mg/100 g of vitamin C and 16 mg/100 g of beta carotene (Abuye *et al.*, 2003). Among the wide range of green leafy vegetables, Moringa is the richest source of beta-carotene (vitamin A) and provides other important micronutrients (Mathur, 2005). Minerals such as K, Fe, Zn, P, and Ca also exist in significant concentrations with average values of 3.08 mg/100 g iron and 792.8 mg/100 g Ca (Abuye *et al.*, 2003). Reports indicated that high vitamin content of moringa leaves could be used to reduce child and maternal mortality rates by 30-50% (Seifu, 2015).

2.4.4.2. Fenugreek (Trigonella foenum-graecum L.)

Fenugreek belonging to the family *Leguminosae* is an annual legume mainly used as a spice crop in many parts of the world. Fenugreek is an old medicinal plant and has been commonly used as a traditional food and medicine. It is locally used as a pulse, spice and medicinal plant, and has a long history in Ethiopia (Gall and Zerihun 2009).

Fenugreek seed can be utilized for value addition of cereals based food products to attain multiple benefits. It is used as a condiment and as a supplement to wheat and maize flour for bread making and as a constituent of the daily diet (Uhl, 2000). Adding fenugreek fiber to refined flours helps to fortify with a balance of soluble and insoluble fiber.

Flour fortified with 8–10% fenugreek fiber has been used to prepare bakery foods like pizza, bread, muffins, and cakes with acceptable sensory properties (Srinivasan, 2005). Commercially, fenugreek has been utilized in the food industry as stabilizer, emulsifier, thickening agent, spice, supplement of wheat and rice flour, beverage, coffee substitute, and tea.

In Ethiopia, it is known as "*Abish*" (in Amharic) and has been considered as medicinal plant to lower blood glucose level, treat gastric disease and abdominal discomfort, boost milk production in lactating mothers, and to increase body weight. It is also used, for softening and preserving of "*Ingera*", infant food preparation, food blend, as beverage, spice.
The health beneficial effects of fenugreek are attributed to its nutrional composition (3–5% moisture, 25–30% protein, 20–30% galactomannan, 20–25% insoluble fiber, 7–9% lipids, 5–7% saponings and 3–4% ash) that include mucilaginous fiber, lysine-rich protein, free amino acids, saponins, flavonoids, and volatile oils (Raju and Bird, 2006). About 20% of fenugreek seed is gel-forming soluble fiber, similar to guar gum, oat bran and psyllium husk. The insoluble fiber, which constitutes 30% of fenugreek seed, is bulk-forming like wheat bran (Mathur and Chaudhary, 2009; Srinivasan, 2005).

The seeds of fenugreek contain lysine and L- tryptophan rich proteins, mucilaginous fiber and other rare chemical constituents such as saponins, coumarine, sapogenins and trigonelline, which are thought to account for many of its presumed therapeutic effects, may inhibit cholesterol absorption and thought to help lower sugar levels (Bukhari *et al.*, 2008). Fenugreek is reported to have restorative and nutritive properties and to stimulate digestive processes (Khosla *et al.*, 1995).

Fenugreek seeds have also been reported to exhibit pharmacological properties such as antitumor, anti-viral and antioxidant activity. However, the seeds are bitter in taste due to presence of saponins which limit their acceptability in foods. It has been possible to debitter fenugreek seeds by employing various processing methods such as soaking, germination, roasting etc.

Traditional preparation methods may affect reduction in the bitterness of the seeds and make possible its incorporation in various recipes. Earlier studies reported that sprouting or overnight soaking; washing of fenugreek seeds in running water and roasting removes the bitterness to a certain extent and makes possible its use in increased quantities for incorporation into various preparations which are commonly consumed. The beneficial effects of processing of fenugreek seeds may be attributed to an increase in low methoxy salts of calcium and magnesium as well as proto-pectin.

2.4.4.3. Salt and sugar

The presence of salt (sodium chloride) primarily contributes to the improvement of flavor and iodine contents of the product. Added salt to food improves the sensory properties of virtually

every food that humans consume, and it is cheap. There are many reasons for adding salt to foods. The main reason is that, in many cases, added salt enhances the positive sensory attributes of foods, even some otherwise unpalatable foods; it makes them "taste" better (Fu, 2008).

2.5. Extrusion

Extrusion is defined as "shaping by force through a specially designed opening often after previous heating of the material" (Harper, 1981). Extrusion technology has created a huge impact in the food industries towards shaping and deriving ready to eat products (Fellows 2009). The use of extrusion in the food processing has increased its popularity due to its versatility, cost-effectiveness, environmental friendliness and better product output (Guy 2001a).

Extrusion cooking has been used in a large number of food applications as it has some unique positive features compared with other heat processes. Nowadays, the food extruder is considered as a high-temperature short-time bioreactor that transforms raw ingredients into a variety of modified intermediate and finished products. During the extrusion process, the material is treated not only by heating, but also by intense mechanical shearing, compression and torque, which are able to break the covalent bonds in biopolymers (Singh *et al.*, 2007). Thus, the functional properties of the food ingredients are rapidly modified due to the combined influence of temperature, pressure, shear and time (Carvalho and Mitchell, 2000). Food extrusion also permits inactivate the undesirable enzymes that can affect the quality and eliminate several anti-nutritional factors, such as trypsin inhibitors, haemagglutinins, tannins and phytates (Singh *et al.*, 2007).

The general differences between the can be single or twin screw extruders. The single screw extruders are classified into, low shear forming extruder, low shear cooking, medium shear cooking and high shear cooking single screw extruders. The size and shape of the extrudates and efficiency of the extruder performance are interdependent on the operational parameters like temperature, pressure and screw speed (Fellows, 2009).

The advantage of using twin screw extruders is versatility to process wide range of products like tortillas, cereal snacks, extruded corn snacks, and multigrain snacks. However due to high capital and maintenance costs, single screw extruders are considered to be cost-effective when compared to twin screw extruders.

2.5.1. Processing parameters affecting extruded products

The extrusion process involves the loading of raw materials in the feeding hopper where the screw conveys through the raw materials. When the raw materials pass down the barrel, the volume is reduced and thereby the food is compressed under pressure into a semi-solid, plasticized mass. At that stage, the dough must have attained the ideal form to create a structure in the extruded product. This transformation of the native raw materials has an optimum range for most product types. For some products, only small changes in native biopolymers are required, whereas for others a very high degree of change must be achieved. For each individual product type, the process must be maintained in a balance between the independent input variables to obtain the ideal conditions within the barrel to achieve this level of transformation (Guy, 2004).

In the confined space of the barrel, the dough is compressed and heated to high temperatures, while subjected to high pressures, before being extruded through the dies into the atmosphere (Guy, 2004). The selection of right extruder for the production of ready to eat (RTE) or cereal snacks depends on the nature of raw materials used, bulk density and type of product to be produced (Fellows, 2009).

The residence time in the extrusion plays an important role in the performance of the product which can be controlled by screw speed. The twin screw extruders, they are classified based on degree of co-rotation and the degree of interconnection between the two screws (Fellows, 2009). The twin screw extruders are also classified into; Co-rotating intermeshing, Co-rotating non-intermeshing, Counter-rotating intermeshing and 4 Counter-rotating non-intermeshing twin-screw extruders.

The processing parameters play important role in determining the quality output of the extruded products. The process controlling of the product depends on various primary and

secondary extrusion process parameters. The primary process parameters include feed rate, screw speed, barrel temperature, moisture content, feed formulation and die configuration. The secondary process parameters include die temperature, pressure and torque (Chessari and Sellahewa 2001).

The pre-conditioning treatment of the raw materials with the help of hot water or steam for about 4-5 minutes helps in gelatinization of starch and protein denaturation of the raw materials during the extrusion processing (Bailey *et al.*, 1995). With respect to the extrusion parameters, processing temperature, water content in the feed and shearing rate plays an important role in the expansion of extrudates during extrusion processing (Guy 2001b). Due to pronounced starch-protein interactions and the cross linking of disulphide bonds in proteins upon high-moisture heat conditions (Mahasukhnothachat *et al.*, 2010), it can be concluded that conventional cooking may not improve nutritional quality of sorghum.

2.5.2. Physical and chemical changes during extrusion process

The changes occurring during the extrusion cooking plays a major role in determining the shape and crispness of the extrudates which is an important characteristic for cereal based snacks (Guy 2001b). One of the important phenomena during the process of extrusion is the process of gelatinization. The process of starch gelatinization helps in gas-holding capacities that result in expansion of extrudates (Guy 2001b).

2.5.2.1. Physical change during extrusion process

During the process of starch gelatinization, breakage of intermolecular hydrogen bonding results in the increase in the absorption of water resulting in swelling of starch granules (Fellows 2009). As the temperature gradually increases, starch molecules are gelatinized which results in the formation of viscous fluid melt. The fluid melt forms the outer coating for the foam bubbles that contain superheated water vapor. During the exit of materials from the extruder die, there is sudden drop in pressure which results in expansion of bubbles by loss of moisture by the process of evaporation. These physical changes during the extrusion process increases the viscosity of material followed by formation of glassy state depending on the degree of vaporization of water in the extrudates structure (Guy 2001a).

The expansion of the extrudates greatly depends on the content of amylose and amylopectin present in the starch granules (Guy 2001b). Higher content of amylose in the starch results in low viscous fluid melt thereby resulting in greater expansion of foods during the extrusion processing. Other process techniques such as germination and fermentation were also found to improve protein digestibility (Correia, *et al.*, 2010). On the other hand, extrusion cooking is an established technique gaining importance in the production of several snack and other ready-to-eat foods.

Advantages of extrusion cooking include high throughput, low energy consumption, absence of process effluents and high efficiency when it comes to raw material selection, their texture and shapes (Harper, 1981).

Key functions such as agglomeration, degassing, dehydration, expansion, homogenization, mixing, pasteurization, protein-denaturation, shaping, shearing, texture alteration, thermal cooking and unitizing are few conditions that are generated by a food extruder for use in a variety of food uses that include food, feed and industry applications.

2.5.2.2. Effect of extrusion on the nutritional properties of extrudates

The bioavailability of nutrients during the processing of foods is always considered important when obtaining a nutritional product. The advantages of extrusion cooking with respect to the nutritional content of the final product are the inactivation of antinutrients, destruction of aflatoxins and increasing the digestibility of fiber (Singh *et al.*, 2007; Saalia and Phillips 2011).

The denaturation of proteins during the extrusion processing caused inactivation of antinutrients such as lectin and antitrypsin inhibitors resulting in the increase of protein digestibility (Kitabatake and Doi 1992).

During the process, disulphide bonds break and reunite, while the high molecular proteins dissociate into smaller subunits (Guy 2001a). During high extrusion processing with lower water content of the feed initiates non-enzymatic browning reaction termed as Maillard reaction. The nutritional effect of protein and amino acid availability was negatively affected by browning and caramelization involving proteins and sugars (Singh *et al.*, 2007).

The addition of antioxidants (e.g. phenolics) also reduced the effect of lipid oxidation in the extrudates and thereby resulting in the better retention of nutritional properties (Camire *et al.*, 2005). The process of extrusion cooking at higher extrusion temperatures also enhanced the process lipid oxidation in extruded corn based snacks (Zadernowski *et al.*, 1997). There are also certain effects of extrusion in relation to dietary fiber content. Increase in the total dietary fiber content of the extruded barley flours was determined with respect to content of soluble dietary fiber. Effect of extrusion on the dietary fiber content led to the transformation of insoluble dietary fiber to the soluble dietary form in addition to the formation of resistant starch and enzyme resistant glucans through the process of transglycosidation (Vasanthan *et al.*, 2002).

Vitamin losses were also reported in the foods that were produced through extrusion. α tocopherol content in the extruded peas decreased with an increase in the extrusion temperature (Grela *et al.*, 1999). Milder extrusion temperatures (150 °C) and short residence time resulted in better retention of heat-sensitive vitamins (vitamin B1, B2). Singh *et al.* (2007) summarized that the heat-sensitive vitamins were lost during extrusion. Athar *et al.* (2006) reported that there was 44-62% retention of B vitamins in snacks during the extrusion processing of cereals and resulted in higher stability of riboflavin (vitamin B2) and niacin (vitamin B3). Absorption of minerals can be enhanced by the process of extrusion (Alonso *et al.*, 2001).

2.5.2.3. Effect of extrusion on the antinutritional properties of extruded products

Traditional artisanal technologies such as decortication, soaking, germination and fermentation of cereal-based foods reduce the levels of tannins and phytates, increase bioavailability of amino acids and mineral elements and improve protein and starch digestibility (Lorri and Svanberg, 1993). But these technologies are limited by their laborious and time demanding nature.

Extrusion of legumes at higher temperature (180 °C) and water content (22%) helped in the complete elimination of trypsin inhibitors in the extrudates (El-Hady and Habiba 2003). Soaking of beans and peas for a period of 16 hours followed by extrusion processing resulted in better elimination of antinutrients in the extrudates (El-Hady and Habiba 2003).

The extrusion of wheat, rice and barley at 140 °C and water content (20%) resulted in more than 50% reduction in the content of phytates, trypsin inhibitors and oxalates in the extruded cereal snacks (Kaur *et al.*, 2013). Elimination of protease inhibitors can be successfully achieved by the process of extrusion at higher temperatures while the complete inhibition of gossypol can be achieved by increasing the water content of the feed during the extrusion processing.

Material	Extrusion	Phytates	Trypsin inhibitors	Tannins (mg	Oxalates
	conditions	(mg/g m)	(U /mg d.m.)	/100 g d.m.)	(%)
Raw Faba		6.1	1.85	485	n.d.
beans					
Extruded Faba	T' 180°C,	4.8	*	362	n.d.
beans	Wc - 22%				
Raw Peas		8.5	13.7	2	n.d.
Extruded Peas	T' 180°C,	7.6	*	200	n.d.
	Wc - 22%				
Raw Wheat		35.9	46.7	n.d.	0.4
Extruded	T' 140°C,	16.2	13.4	n.d.	0.2
Wheat	Wc - 20%				
Raw Rice		36.8	46.3	n.d.	0.4
Extruded rice	T' 140°C,	16.3	12.5	n.d.	0.2
	Wc - 20%				
Raw Barley		34.7	43.3	n.d.	0.3
Extruded	T' 140°C,	13.3	17.7	n.d.	0.2
Barley	Wc - 20%				

Table 4: Effect of extrusion on antinutrients contents of different crops

* - negligible amounts, T'- temperature, Wc -water content

N.d.-not determined

Soucree: (Kaur et al., 2013, El-Hady and Habiba 2003)

2.6. Instant Flour

The global lifestyle, which is characterized by limited free time and increased working hours, have turned consumers to the consumption of ready-to-eat products. In addition, children worldwide are attracted to several snack products which are particularly tasty and easy to be consumed. With a growth rate of 12-15 % per year, food market is gaining general acceptance throughout the globe (Prescha *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, food industries have increased the production of ready-to-eat products using several processes. This has obviously presented a huge opportunity for the food industry to develop and market convenience food products (Barbet, 2012).

The Food Standards Agency (FSA, UK) defines ready-to-eat products as: 'any food for consumption without further heating or processing'. This definition covers both open and prewrapped ready-to eat products and is intended to apply whether the ready-to-eat food may be consumed hot or cold. The expression 'further heating or processing' is not intended to include food preparation activities such as light washing, slicing, chopping, portioning, marinating or preservation carried out by the consumer by way of preference to an otherwise ready to eat food item.

Various technologies are being used to develop "Instant foods" and extrusion is an important technology for processing grain-based products and adds immense value to raw material ranging from corn, wheat and rice to sorghum, oats and soybeans.

Low cost and nutritious instant foods may be developed using major crops, which may be blended or supplemented with each other to provide complete nutrition. Processing of blends of cereals with legumes and oilseeds into forms which combine the advantage of nutritive value and convenience of use stands a better chance of success. Ready-to-eat (RTE) foods are increasingly popular with the consumer predominantly due to their convenience of consumption and ease of preparation and storage and consumer appeal factors such as convenience, value, attractive appearance and texture (Harper, 1981).

27

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Description of the Study Site

The study was conducted at Jimma University College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine (JUCAVM), Post-harvest management laboratory. JUCAVM is located in Jimma zone, Oromia regional state in southwest Ethiopia. The experiment on the extrusion process was conducted in the food processing laboratory of the School of Chemical and Food Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Bahir Dar University. Protein, fat, fiber, and phytate analysis were done at Ethiopian Public Health Institute (EPHI) Addis Ababa and mineral analysis was conducted at Debre Zeit Agricultural Research Center. Other parameters were measured in JUCAVM's post-harvest management and soil laboratories.

3.2. Experimental Materials

About 35kg of unhusked oat grain *sinana one* variety was collected from Sinana Agricultural, Research Center, 10kg of soybean *crack 63K* variety was collected from Jimma agricultural research Center, 5kg of linseed, *Kulumsa one* variety was brought from Kulumsa Agriculture Research Center, *chala variety* of fenugreek and *moringa stenopetila* was brought from Debira Zeit Agricultural Research Center and Alagae agricultural technical and vocational education and training (TVET) college respectively to Jimma university. The selection of variety was based on its production and availability in the society. The criteria for selection of each ingredient are presented in (Table 5).

The materials used for this study were known variety of oat, soybean and linseed.

3.2.1 Oat

Oat was selected based on social acceptability as a complementary food (Tsegaye, 2015) and its nutrition composition. Oats are unique among the cereals; one of the rich sources of dietary fibers among cereals belongs to the Poaceae family (Butt *et al.*, 2008). Oat grain is characterized by unusual chemical composition (Butt *et al.*, 2008; Angioloni and Collar, 2012), because it contains a beneficial combination of nutritional compounds. Lipid content in oat grain is 2-3 times higher than in other cereals (Butt *et al.*, 2008; Angioloni and Collar, 2012). Moreover it is characterized by high protein content, which is a good source of aminoacids (Butt *et al.*, 2008; Gambuś *et al.*, 2011).

3.2.2. Soybean

Soybean was selected based on its nutritional composition and its production in the area. Soybean is an important source of high quality, inexpensive protein and oil. Soybean has the highest protein content of all food crops and is second only to peanut in terms of oil content (18%) among food legumes. Compared to other protein-rich foods such as meat, fish, and eggs, soybeans is by far the cheapest. It also has a superior amino-acid profile compared to other sources of plant protein (Saskia and Martin, 2008). Soybean is often called the "miracle bean" because of its chemical composition and diverse applications for food, feed, and non-food uses. It has an exceptionally high content of both protein and fat (Kim *et al.*, 2008).

3.2.3. Linseed

Linseed was selected depending on its dominant production in the area south west Ethiopia (availability of the ingredient in the area), their acceptance as complementary food of child in the area (Nejat un published data) and its nutritional profile. Linseed presents a nutritional and pharmacological value as a source of biologically active phytochemicals such as linolenic acid and lignans and is thus widely used as a dietary supplement (Attoumbré *et al.*, 2011). The linseed contains approximately 40% oil, 30% dietary fiber, 20% protein, 6% moisture and 4% ash (Oomah Mazza, 2001).

3.2.4. Premix

Premix (sugar 9.9% & salt 0.6%) was selected based on literature (Mouquet *el al.*, 2003) and 1.5% fenugreek and 3% moringa were selected based on nutritional composition to full fill vitamin A, mineral requirements and to improve flavor of composite flour. Premix was added to confer suitable organoleptic characteristics to the flour.

3.2.4.1. Moringa

Moringa was selected because of its nutritional composition, hundred grams of dried leaves of moringa contain 27.1 g protein, 16.3 mg vitamin A, 17.3 mg vitamin C, 2.0 g calcium, 1.3 g potassium and 28.2 mg iron, in addition to 19.2 g dietary fiber and several other nutrients (Fuglie, 2001). Some articles and research studies have reported that the dry leaves of moringa contain 7 times more vitamin C than orange, 10 times vitamin A than carrot, 17 times calcium than milk, 15 times potassium than bananas, 25 times iron than spinach and 9 times proteins than yogurt (Fugile, 1999)

3.2.4.2. Fenugreek

Fenugreek is locally used as a pulse, spice and medicinal plant, and has a long history in Ethiopia (Gall and Zerihun 2009). Fenugreek seed can be utilized for value addition of cereals based food products to attain multiple benefits. It is used as a condiment and as a supplement to wheat and maize flour for bread making and as a constituent of the daily diet of general population. The fenugreek seed is very bitter but does have interesting proximate composition. Protein content ranges between 23and 43% of the seed, carbohydrate represents up to 58%, moisture make up about 10 - 13% of the seed, lipid represent 5-6 % and minerals make up less than 1% (Elnasri, 2006).

3.2.4.3. Sugar and salt

Sugar was used to improve the taste of the product. Salt and sugar can be also used for preservative purpose of instant infant flour. Salt (sodium chloride) was added primarily to the improvement of flavor and iodine contents of the product. Adding salt to food improves the sensory properties of virtually every food that humans consume.

Ingredients	Reason of selection	Reference	
Oat	Carbohydrate source;		
	Socially accepted by the community for infant	Baseline survey	
	feeding,		
	Good nutritional profile	Butt et al., 2008	
Soybean	Protein source ;		
	used as ingredient of complementary food	Baseline survey	
	Soybean is a very rich source of vegetable	Dandago and Igwe,	
	protein for all including growing children	2006	
linseed	Fat source;		
	Dominantly produced among oil seeds,	Baseline survey	
	sometimes used as infant complementary food		
	A rich source of nutrients it finds its use in	Mantri et al., 2012	
	various food product formulations		
		_	
	Sugar ;		
	To increase acceptability of taste	Mouquet <i>et al.</i> , 2003	
Premixes	salt ;		
	Improve iodine contents of the formulation	Mouquet <i>et al.</i> , 2003,	
	Enhances the positive sensory attributes of	Fu, 2008	
	foods, it makes them "taste" better		
	Moringa;		
	Nutritional profile;	Fuglie et al., 2001	
	Fenugreek;	Baseline survey,	
	commonly used for seasoning purposes,	(Fazli and Hardman,	
	in Ethiopia the seeds are prepared for infant	1968)	
	feeding		

Table 5: Selection criteria of ingredients used for formulation

3.3. Sample Preparation

The procedures for samples preparation are presented below

3.3.1. Oat flour preparation

Oat flour was prepared according to the procedure of Hooda and Jood (2003). The oat was cleaned of dirt, stone and other impurities. The cleaned oat was dehusked by de husker (Hangyuhp20, Germany).

After the husk is removed it was sorted manually to obtain uniform size and to remove broken kernels and shrunken ones. The cleaned oat was milled into fine flour using grinding mill (Karl Kolb D-6072 Drrich. West Germany) following by sieving (0.5mm) to get uniform sized flour. The flour was then stored in polyethylene bags at 4°C for extrusion and further analysis.

3.3.2. Soybean flour preparation

Soybean flour was prepared according to Famurewa and Raji (2011). The soybean grains were hand sorted and cleaned to get similar grains and to discard the defective grains including other contaminants. The cleaned soybean was poured in to boiling water and boiled for 30 minutes. The hot water was drained out, and the boiled soybean was placed in basin of fresh water and agitated between fingers to remove the hulls. The dehulled soybean was oven dried at of 60°C for 13 hours. Dehulled dry soybeans were milled (Karl Kolb D-6072 Drrich. West Germany) followed by sieving (0.5mm) to produce fine flour. The flour was then stored in polyethylene bags at 4°C for further analysis.

3.3.3. Flaxseed (linseed) flour preparation

The linseed flour was prepared according to Chetana *et al.* (2010). Linseed was cleaned manually to remove dust particles, damaged seeds, seeds of other crops and other impurities such as weeds. The cleaned linseed was lightly roasted at 100° C for 15 minutes. It was continuously stirred with ladle for proper and uniform roasting until a nutty flavor was developed. The roasted linseed was milled (Karl Kolb D-6072 Drrich. West Germany) followed by sieving (0.5mm) to get full fat flaxseed flour. The resulting flour was stored in airtight polyethylene bag at 4°C for further analysis.

3.3.4. Fenugreek flour preparation

Fenugreek flour was prepared according to Hemlata and Pratima (2015). Fenugreek seeds was cleaned of any foreign material and defectives and roasted in an open pan at103±5 °C for 7 minutes to impart aroma generating compound. It was continuously stirred with ladle for proper and uniform roasting until it became slight brown and left a peculiar aroma.

The seeds were ground in grinder (Karl Kolb D-6072 Drrich. West Germany) and passed through sieve (0.5mm) to get uniform sized flour. The resulting flour was stored in airtight polyethylene bag at 4°C for further analysis.

3.3.5. Moringa leaf powder preparation

Moringa leaves were prepared according to methods of Gebretsadikan *et al.* (2015). Fresh mature moringa leaves were carefully harvested and the damaged and diseased leaves were discarded. The leaves were washed with clean water at 1:5 leaves to water ratio to remove dusts and pests, and subsequently drained on the draining table for about one hour before taking them to the drying room at ambient temperature and relative humidity. Dried leaves were milled using the grinding mill (Karl Kolb D-6072 Drrich. West Germany) followed by sieving (0.5mm) to produce fine flour. The powder was stored in airtight LDPE packages which also protect the flour from ultra-violet light and kept in dark place.



Source; (Hooda and Jood, 2003, Hemlata and Pratima, 2015, Famurewa and Raji 2011, Gebretsadikan *et al.*, 2015)

Figure 1: Flow diagram of sample preparation and processing

3.4. Experimental Design and Treatment Combinations

The experimental was designed design was with the aid of Minitab software version 16, Doptimal mixture design was used to generate the treatment combination; accordingly 13 runs were computer generated. The treatment combinations are presented in (Table 6).

Run order	Oat	Soy bean	Linseed	Premix	100%
1	57.92	19.92	7.17	15.0	100.01
2	57.42	17.92	9.67	15.0	100.01
3	56.00	23.00	6.00	15.0	100.00
4	65.00	11.00	9.00	15.0	100.00
5	62.42	15.42	7.17	15.0	100.01
6	55.00	19.00	11.0	15.0	100.00
7	62.42	15.42	7.17	15.0	100.01
8	57.42	19.92	7.67	15.0	100.01
9	63.00	11.00	11.0	15.0	100.00
10	59.83	16.83	8.34	15.0	100.00
11	55.00	23.00	7.00	15.0	100.00
12	61.42	13.92	9.67	15.0	100.01
13	65.00	14.00	6.00	15.0	100.00

Table 6: Treatment combination of oat, soybean, linseed and premix of composite flours

Premix (9.9% sugar, 3% moringa, 1.5% fenugreek and 0.6% salt)

Upper and lower constraints for each ingredient (Table 7) were determined based on data from food composition tables (Souci *et al.*, 2008) and literature. Premix was added to meet recommendations for vitamin and mineral and confer suitable organoleptic characteristics to the flours (Mouquet *et al.*, 2003). According to WHO/ FAO (2004), composite instant infant formula are expected to contain 10-15(g/100g) fat, greater than15 (g/100g) protein and 400-425 kcal) energy.

Table 7: lower and upper limits of ingredients in mixture design

Ingredient	Lower	Upper
Oat	55	65
Soybean	11	23
Linseed	6	11
Premix	15	15

The proportion of oat, soybean and linseed is converted to 85% in order to fulfill the requirements of protein and fat and the remains 15% premix. The experimental region and experimental points are presented in below in figure 2



Figure 2: Simplex design plots for the 3-component mixture formulations

3. 5. Extrusion Processing

Before extrusion processing, the flours were mixed and homogenized for 5 minutes in a planetary cake mixer (H.LB20/B, Hungary). Extrusion process was conducted using a pilot scale co-rotating twin screw food extrusion cooker (model Clextral, BC-21 N0 194, Firminy, France). The Length to Diameter (L/D) ratio for extruder was 20:1. The diameter of the hole in the die was 6 mm with a die length of 27 mm.

Necessary calibration and adjustment of the material feed rate and water flow rate were performed prior to the main extrusion cooking process. The barrel temperature of third zone, which was located just before the die was allowed to operate at different temperatures starting of 100 ° C to 140 ° C, was adjusted based on literature.

By looking at the characteristics of the products from the extrusion, the barrel temperature which varied from 120°C to 130°C was selected for the experiment based on preliminary work. The moisture content of the material was adjusted by varying the water injection rate of the pump. The pump was adjusted to give moisture content of 17 and 20% using hydration

equation (Equation 1). Screw speed was set at 150, 200 and 250 rpm based on literature. The selected moisture and screw speed levels were also chosen by looking the product characteristics at different moisture and screw speed at pre-test experiments.

Finally the blend was extruded using a twin screw co-rotating extruder. The extruder was consisting of three independent zones of controlled temperature in the barrel, 70, 100 and 130° C, respectively. The extruder was operated at barrel temperature of 130° C, screw speed of 150 rpm with the feeder delivering feed rate of 5.1g/min. Feed moisture content in the extruder barrel was 17% (170 g/kg). The extrudates were collected and dried in a dry oven at 105° C for 15 minutes (Carine *et al.*, 2010), allowed to cool at room temperature. The dried extrudates were milled and sieved (0.5mm) finally, the flour was stored in polyethylene bags at 4°C for further analysis.

Wa = $Sw \left(\frac{m-ma}{100-m}\right)$Equation 1

Where:

Wa= weight of water added (g) ma=original flour moisture content (% weight base) m= Required dough moisture level (% weight base) Sw = sample flour weight (g)

3.6. Preparation of Gruel

In total, 15 gruels samples were prepared; 13 gruel samples from composite instant flour and 2, gruel samples from '*mittin*' (blends of soybean, barley, lentil, wheat, peanut, fenugreek, linseed, faba bean, sorghum and oat used as complementary food) and barley gruel as a control. Fifty gram of instant flour was added to 150ml of pure tape water warmed at 75°C and stirred with wooden ladle until it attains desirable paste consistency similar to the traditional gruel consumed (Thathola and Srivastava, 2002) for extruded composite flour for control ('*mittin*' and barley flour) gruel sample preparation time was 90°C for 30 minutes. After preparation, gruels were allowed to cool to 45° C before sensory evaluation.

3.7. Analysis Methods

3.7.1 Proximate analysis

Proximate compositions of extruded composite flour were determined using standard methods. All analyses were performed in duplicate.

3.7.1.1. Moisture content determination

Moisture content of the composite flour, samples were determined by dry air oven method according to (AOAC, 2005) method, 925.10. The petridish was dried at $130 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C for 1 hour and placed in desiccator and weighed after cooling. About 3g of flour were weighed by analytical balance and put on dry dish. Dry dish and its contents put in the oven (LEICESTER LE67 5FT, England) maintained at 130° C $\pm 3^{\circ}$ C for 1 hour. The sample containing dish was transferred to a desiccator and weighed soon after reaching room temperature. Then, the moisture content was estimated by the formula:-

Moisture (%) = $\frac{W2-W3}{(W2-W1)}$Equation 2

Where:

W1 = Weight of the drying petridish,

W2= Mass of the drying petridish and the sample before drying,

W3 = Mass of the drying petridish and the sample after drying

3.7.1.2. Ash determination

Ash was determined by the method of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 2000), using the official method 923.03. Clean porcelain crucible, dried at 120°C in an oven was cooled in desiccators and weighed (M1). Then about 2.0 g samples were weighed into a previously dried and weighed (M2) porcelain crucible. The crucible with the contents were placed in a Muffle furnace (Gallenkamp, Model FSL 340-0100, U.K.) set at 550°C for three hours to ignite until ashing was complete. After this period the crucible with its content was removed and cooled in desiccators. The crucible with the residue was weighed (M3). The weights of the ash were expressed as a percentage of the initial weight of the samples. The total ash was expressed as percentages on dry matter basis as follows

Where:

(M2-M1) is sample mass in g on dry base and

(M3-M1) mass of ash in gm

3.7.1.3. Crude fat determination

Crude fat content of composite flour was determined by Soxhlet extraction according to (AOAC, 2005) method, 2003.06. About 2 g of sample was weighed and put into a thimble. The thimble and its contents were placed in to extraction flask. The thimble and its extraction flask were transferred in to extraction unit. The sample contained in the thimble was extracted with the solvent diethyl ether in a Soxhlet extraction apparatus (Foss Tecator, Sweden) for 6 hours. After the extraction completed, the extraction thimble was dried in the oven (Memmert 854 schwabach, West Germen) for 30 minutes at $102^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C$ to remove moisture. Then it was removed from the oven and cooled in desiccators. The cup and its contents were weighed. The crude fat was determined by the following formula:-

Crude fat (%) = $\frac{W2-W1}{weight of sample}$Equation 4

Where:

W1= Weight of extraction flask before extractionW2 = Weight of extraction flask after extraction

3.7.1.4. Protein determination

The crude protein content of composite flour was analyzed by Kjeldahl method of nitrogen analysis according to AOAC (2005) Method, 978.04. About 0.3 gm of sample, 1 g of catalyst mixture of K_2SO_4 and $CuSO_4$ and 5 ml of sulfuric acid were added to digestion flask (Kjeldahl flask KF250, Technical Glass Products, Inc., USA) at about 370°C digested until the solution becomes clear. Then, distillation took place by adding 25 ml of 40% NaOH and using 25 ml of boric acid with 10 drops of indicator solution. As the distillation was going on, the pink color solution of the receiver flask turned green indicating the presence of ammonia. The green color solution was then titrated with 0.1N HCl solutions. At the end point, the green color turned to red pink color, which indicated that, all the nitrogen trapped as ammonium

borate have been removed as ammonium chloride. The distillate was titrated with standardized 0.1N sulfuric acid to a reddish color. Finally the percentage of nitrogen content was estimated using the following formula:

Total nitrogen (%) = $\frac{((T-B) \times N \times 14.007 \times 100)}{weig ht of sample}$Equation 5

Where:

Crude protein = 6.25 * total nitrogen

T - Volume in ml of the standard acid solution used in the titration for the test material

B - Volume in ml of the standard acid solution used in the titration for the blank determination

N - Normality of standard sulphuric acid

3.7.1.5. Crude fiber determination

The crude fiber was determined by the non-enzymatic gravimetric method of (AOAC, 2005) method, 920.168. About 1.5 g food sample was place into 600mL beaker. A 200 ml of 1.25% H₂SO₄ solution was added to each beaker and allowed to boil for 30 min by rotating and stirring sometimes. During boiling, the level was kept constant by addition of hot distilled water. After 30 min, 20 ml of 28% potassium hydroxide solution was added in to each beaker and again allowed to boil for another 30 min. The level was still kept constant by addition of hot distilled water. The solution in each beaker was then filtered through crucibles containing sand filter by placing each of them on Buchner funnel fitted with No.9 rubber stopper. During filtration the sample was washed with hot distilled water. The final residue was washed with 1% H₂SO₄ solution, hot distilled water, 1% NaOH solution, 1% H₂SO₄, hot distilled water and finally with acetone. Each of the crucibles with their contents was dried for 2 hours at 130°C in the oven (Memmert 854 schwabach, West Germen), cooled in desiccators and weighed (M1). Then again they were ashed for 30 min at 550°C in furnace (Stuart 2416, UK) and were cooled in desiccators. Finally the mass of each crucible was weighed (M2) to subtract ash from fiber. The crude fiber was calculated from the equation

Crud fiber (%) =
$$\frac{M1-M2}{weig het of sample}$$
.....Equation 6

Where:

M1 = mass of crucible and wet residue

M2 = mass of crucible and ash residue

3.7.1.6. Carbohydrate Determination by difference

The carbohydrate contents was determined by subtracting the summed up percentage compositions of moisture, protein, lipid, fiber, and ash contents from 100 g of the sample (Otitoju, 2009).

Carbohydrate (%) =100 % - (*Moisture*% + *Protein*% + *Fat*% + *Ash*% + *Fiber*%)......Equation 7

3.7.1.7. Gross Energy

Energy was determined by calculation from fat, carbohydrate and protein content using the Atwater's conversion factor (Golden, 2009).

Energy (kcal) = kcal Protien% + kcal fat% + kcal carbohydrate%......Equation 8

3.7.2. Mineral Analyses

Calcium, zinc and iron were determined by Flame Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer (AAS) (Auto sampler AA 6800, Japan) method as per the (AOAC, 2005) method, 985.35. One g of composite flour samples were ashed and weighed flask used for filter the digested ash was washed with 10% HNO₃ (nitric acid) and Ashes were obtained from dry ashing was wetted completely with 5ml of 6N HCl and dried on hot plate by low temperature. A 7ml of 3N HCl was added to the dried ash and heated on the hot plate until the solution just boils. The ash solution was cooled to room temperature at open air in a hood and filtered through a filter paper (Whatman 42, 125 mm) into a 50 ml graduated flask and 5ml of 3N HCl was added into each crucible dishes and re-heated until the solution just boiled, then cooled and filtered into the flask. The crucible dishes were again washed three times with de-ionized water; the washings were filtered into the flask to suppress interferences during calcium reading. Then the solution was cooled and diluted to the mark (50ml) with de-ionized water. A blank was

prepared by taking the same procedure as the sample. Then the solution was used to determine Ca, Zn, and Fe. The sample and standard were atomized by using reducing air-acetylene for Ca and oxidizing air-acetylene for zinc and iron as a source of energy for atomization.

For iron content determination absorbance was measured at 248.4 nm. For zinc concentration determination, absorbance was measured at 213.9 nm. Calcium content determination, absorbance was measured at 422.7 nm. Mineral content were calculated using the following formula: -

Mineral content (mg/100g) = $\frac{[(A-B)*V]}{10W}$Equation 9

Where:

W= Weight (g) of samples;

V= Volume (V) of extract

A= Concentration (μ g/ml) of sample solution;

 $B = Concentration (\mu g/ml)$ of blank solution

3.7.3. ß-carotene determination

Extraction of total β -carotene content was followed the method of Sadler and others (1990), with minor modifications. Briefly, 1 g of A sample flour was mixed with of 1gram CaCl₂.2H₂O and 50 ml extraction solvent (50% hexane, 25% acetone, and 25% ethanol, containing 0.1% BHT) and shaken 30 min at ambient temperature. After adding 15 ml of distilled water, the solution was frequently shaken for a further 15 min. The organic phase, containing the β -carotene was separated from the water phase, using a separation funnel, and filtered using Whatman filter paper No.1.The extraction procedure was carried out under subdued light to avoid degradation of carotenoids. β -carotene was estimated from a standard curve of beta carotene standard product of Sigma Aldrich dissolved in the same solvent combination. To draw the calibration curve, beta carotene standard stock solution was prepared by accurately weigh 0.01g beta-carotene standard and dissolved in 20 ml solvent which was similar to extraction solvent used to extract samples (50 % hexane, 25 % acetone, and 25 % ethanol) and made the volume to 100 ml using the same solvent. From the stock

solution 0, 2, 3, 4 and 5ml were added in to 100ml flask and diluted to give 0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, and 0.8 mg/L of beta carotene standard. Extracted beta carotenes were determined using double beam UV-Vis spectrophotometer (T80, china) at 450nm wavelength. Finally, the β -carotene of each sample was calculated using the standard calibration curve equation

3.7.4. Anti nutrient determinations

3.7.4.1. Phytate content determination

The method described by Vaintraub and Lapteva (1988) was used for phaytate determination. Five g of dried sample was weighed and extracted with 10ml of 0.2N HCl for 1 hour at an ambient temperature and centrifuge at (3000rpm/30minut). The clear supernatant was used for the phytate estimation. 2 ml of wade reagent was added to 3ml of the supernatant sample solution then homogenize and centrifuged the solution (3000rpm/10minut). The absorbance at 500nm was measured using UV-Vis spectrophotometer. The phytate concentration was calculated from the difference between the absorbance of the blank (3ml of 0.2N HCl +2ml of wade reagent) and that of assayed sample. The amount of phytic acid was calculated using phytic acid standard curve and result was expressed as phytic acid in $\mu g/g$ fresh weight.

Phytate $((\mu g)/g) = \frac{absorbance -intercept}{density *slpoe *wieg ht}$Equation 10

3.7.4.2. Tannin content determination

Tannin content was determined by the modified vanillin-HCl methods Latta and Eskin (1980). Two grams sample was extracted with 50 ml 99.9% methanol for 20 minutes at room temperature with constant agitation. After centrifugation for 10 min. at 653 rpm, 5 ml of vanillin-HCl (2% Vanilli and 1% HCl) reagent was added to 1 ml aliquots, and the color developed after 20 min. at room temperature was read at 500 nm. Correction for interference light natural pigments in the sample was achieved by subjecting the extract to the conditions of the reaction, but without vanillin reagent. A standard curve was prepared using Catechin (Sigma Chemical, St. Louis, MO) after correcting for blank, and tannin concentration will be expressed in g/100 g.

Tannin (µg/g) =
$$\frac{(A-B)-intercept}{weig ht} * slpope * d$$
.....Equation11

Where:

A =sample absorbanceB= blank absorbanced=density of solution (0.791g/ml)

3.7.5. Functional Properties Determinations

3.7.5.1. Water Absorption Capacity

Water Absorption Capacity (WAC) was determined using the method of Adebowale *et al.* (2005). Ten ml of distilled water was added to 1gram of the sample in a beaker. The suspension was stirred using magnetic stirrer for 3 minutes. The suspension obtained was thereafter centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 30 minutes, and the supernatant was measured into a 10 ml graduated cylinder. The water absorbed by the flour was calculated as the difference between the initial volume of the sample and the volume of the supernatant.

WAC= $\frac{W3-W2}{W1}$ Equation 12

Where:

W1= weight of flour, W3= weight of flour plus tube after centrifuge W2= weight of tube

3.7.5.2. Bulk density determination

The bulk density of the composite flour was analyzed according to the method stated by Oladele and Aina (2007) in which a mass of 50 g of the sample was put in to a 100 ml measuring cylinder. The cylinder was tapped continuously until a constant volume was obtained. The bulk density was then calculated as weight of the grounded flour in (g) divided by its volume (ml).

Bulk density $(g/cm^3) = \frac{\text{weight of sample}}{\text{volume of sample after tapping}}$Equation 13

3.7.6. Sensory evaluation

Sensory evaluation of the gruel samples was conducted in the laboratories of Post Harvest Management Department, Jimma University college of Agriculture and veterinary medicine. Sensory evaluation was conducted to determine organoleptic attributes namely appearance, aroma, taste, mouth feel and overall acceptability. Mothers who have children aged 6-24 months and who had an experience of preparing infant food were selected as panelists.

The gruels were placed in identical cups coded with three digit random numbers. Panelists were provided with a glass of water, and were instructed to rinse and swallow water between samples. Panelists were asked to test each product at a time and express their degree of preference in relation to the sensory attributes. A 5- point Hedonic scale (Muhimbula *et al.*, 2011) was used to determine degree of preference. The preference was converted into numerical scores ranging from 1 to 5

Where:

5 = Like extremely,	2 = dislike slightly a			

4= Like slightly 1 = dislike extremely

3= neither like or dislike,

3.8. Statistical Analysis

MINITAB version16 software package was used to analysis the data. Normality and constant variance assumptions of the error terms were checked using diagnostic tools namely normal probability plot of residuals and scatter plot of residuals versus fits respectively.

The statistical significance of the terms in the regression equations was examined by analysis of variance (ANOVA) for each response and the significance test level was set at 5% (P < 0.05). The fitted models for all the parameters were generated. Data analysis, construction of response surface plot and overlaid plot of the results were done. Graphical optimization was carried out to determine the optimum blend of oat, soybean and linseed composite instant with desirable chemical composition and overall sensory acceptability.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

In this chapter, data collected on proximate compositions (moisture, ash content, protein, crude fiber, fat, and carbohydrate), energy, minerals (Fe, Ca and Zn), total carotenoids, antinutritional factors (phytate and tannin), functional properties (water absorption capacity and bulk density) and sensory attributes (appearance, aroma, taste, mouth feel, consistency and overall acceptability) are described, presented in different tables/figures and discussed.

4.1 Proximate Compositions of Instant Complementary Flour

Mean values of moisture content, crude protein, crude fat, total ash, crude fiber, carbohydrate and energy density contents of extruded complementary flour are presented in Table 8. The minimum and maximum values for moisture, protein, fat, fiber, ash, carbohydrate and energy density of extruded composite instant flours were 3.2 - 5.6%, 18.0 - 20.6%, 6.8 - 9.9%, 3.8 - 4.3%, 2.3 - 3.1%, 59.8 - 63.7% and 384.5 - 408.2kcal/100g respectively.

Mixture composition (%)				Proximate composition (%)						Energy
Oat	soybean	linseed	Premix*	MC	PC	FC	FiC	AC	CC	
57.9	19.9	7.2	15.0	4.1	19.5	8.5	3.9	2.7	61.4	399.8
57.4	17.9	9.7	15.0	4.0	19.4	8.7	3.9	2.8	61.1	400.8
56.0	23.0	6.0	15.0	3.2	20.5	8.7	3.9	2.9	60.9	403.7
65.0	11.0	9.0	15.0	5.2	18.2	7.1	4.1	2.6	62.7	387.2
62.4	15.4	7.2	15.0	4.7	18.7	7.6	4.0	2.7	62.3	392.5
55.0	19.0	11.0	15.0	3.2	19.6	9.9	4.0	3.1	60.2	408.2
62.4	13.9	8.7	15.0	5.0	18.8	7.5	4.1	2.8	61.9	390.3
57.4	19.9	7.7	15.0	4.0	19.9	8.7	3.8	2.9	60.6	400.8
63.0	11.0	11.0	15.0	4.6	18.1	7.0	4.3	2.3	63.7	390.1
59.8	16.8	8.3	15.0	4.5	19.0	8.5	3.9	2.8	61.4	397.9
55.0	23.0	7.0	15.0	3.4	20.6	9.3	3.8	3.1	59.8	405.0
61.4	13.9	9.7	15.0	4.3	18.7	7.8	4.1	2.6	62.5	395.0
65.0	14.0	6.0	15.0	5.6	18.0	6.8	4.2	2.5	62.9	384.5

Table 8: Proximate composition and energy contents (kcal/100g) of the instant complementary flour

Premix (9.9% sugar, 3% moringa, 1.5% fenugreek and 0.6% salt)

MC=moisture content; PC=Protein content; FC=crude fat content; FiC= crude fiber content; AC=ash content; CC= carbohydrate content,

Analysis of variance outputs of proximate composition of instant complementary flour are summarized in Appendix table 1. P-values for quadratic models, interaction among components and R squared values were indicated. ANOVA p-values of all the proximate compositions (except for moisture content and energy) indicate that quadratic models and interaction among the mixture components are significantly (p < 0.05) different. Coefficient of determination (R^2 values) for proximate composition indicated that models can sufficiently predict the responses.

4.1.1. Moisture content

The moisture contents of the extruded composite flours varied from 3.2% to 5.6%. ANOVA has shown that the model for predicting moisture content is not satisfactory. The Coefficient of determination in indicates that the model developed in predicting moisture contents could explain 96.11% of the variations (Appendix table 1). The regression model for moisture content was presented as equation in (Appendix table 2)

At higher proportion of oat in the blend, the moisture contents of the infant flours was also high (5.6%), and at high proportion of soybean and linseed the moisture content was low (3.2%). Increasing proportion of oat in the formulation increased the moisture content of formulations. On the other hand increasing proportions of soybean and linseed decreased the moisture content of formulations (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Contour plot of a moisture content (%) of instant complementary flour

The moisture levels were less than 7% similar to values reported by Filli *et al.* (2010) in extruded cereals. The increasing of moisture contents of the instant infant flour with increasing of oat may be due to high moisture contents of oat than soybean and linseed. The result of this study is in agreement with the findings of Iwe and Ngoddy, (1998) who reported that addition of soybean flour reduced the moisture and the carbohydrate contents. Ojinnaka *et al.* (2013) also reported that moisture level of the samples decreased with increased inclusion of soybean flour. The decrease in moisture level with increase in level of substitution with soybean flour might serve as an indication of increased storage stability (Adebayo-Oyetoro *et al.*, 2010).

In contrary to these results, Asare *et al.* (2012) reported that a blend of rice and legumes had relatively high moisture content as compared to rice extruded alone, which suggests that the incorporation of the legumes (groundnut and cowpea) to the system might have resulted in the observed higher moisture values.

Moisture is one of the important quality parameter that determine the shelf life of food, as increasing of moisture decrease shelf life of products by facilitating growth of microorganisms. Low moisture content of flours prevents microbial activity and extends the shelf life of products (Tizazu *et al.*, 2010; Kikafunda *et al.*, 2006). The low moisture values of the products indicated that, the product is shelf stable.

4.1.2. Crude fiber content

The crude fiber contents of the composite instant infant flours varied from 3.8% to 4.3%. ANOVA has shown that highly significant (p < 0.01) difference quadratic model and interaction among the components except interaction between oat and soybean which no significance (p > 0.05) difference. The model developed in predicting product fiber contents could explain 98.86% of the variation (Appendix table 1). The regression model for crude fiber content was represented as equation in (Appendix table 2) as indicated with three variables.

The minimum crude fiber contents of the formulation was recorded at highest proportions of soybean in the blend of oat, soybean and linseed (55%: 23%: 7%) respectively and the maximum value of fiber contents of composite instant infant flour was obtained at high proportions of oat flour in the blend (65%: 14%: 6%) as indicated in Table 8. Increasing proportions of oat and linseed flour increases the crude fiber contents of the formulation on other hand decreasing the proportion of oat and linseed flour and increasing proportion of soybean flour decreased the crude fiber contents of the formulation as showed in (Figure 4) below.



Figure 4: Contour plot of crude fiber content (%) of instant complementary flour

Increased fiber contents of formulation as oat and linseed flour increases might be related to high fiber contents of oat and linseed. Similar result was reported by Ganorkar and Jain (2014), increasing proportion of linseed flour in wheat based cookies increased crude fiber content, this could be accounted by the fact that linseed is far higher in crude fiber content compared with wheat flour. The fiber contents of soybean might be reduced due to husk removal during sample preparation. Dehulling removes the hulls, which contain much fiber (Kikafunda *et al.*, 2006). The result of the finding is in line with the report of Ghasemzadeh and Ghavide (2011), incorporation of de-hulled legumes instead of whole legume grains, reported to decrease fiber contents.

The result of present finding of crude fiber content was less than the maximum fiber content of 5% of the Protein Advisory Group Recommendations (1972). According to Codex Almentarious Commission (FAO/WHO, 2013) recommendation, fiber intake for children should not exceed 5 g per 100 g of food on dry weight basis. Therefore the result of crude fiber contents of extruded composite flour is within the range of this recommendation.

Although fiber content in food is believed to prevent or alleviate maladies such as cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, and colon cancer (Azizah and Zainon, 1997), because it consists of cellulose and lignin, its estimation affords an index for evaluation of dietary fiber (Eddy *et al.*, 2007). High fiber content reduce energy intake through a suppressing effect on appetite, and may increase fecal losses of energy due to reduced absorption of fat and carbohydrate.

4.1.3. Protein content

The minimum and maximum values of protein contents of the formulation were 18.0 and 20.6% respectively. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) has shown highly significant difference (P < 0.01) in protein content of extruded composite flour samples in quadratic model, interaction between soybean and linseed but, the interaction of soybean with linseed showed significant (p < 0.05) effect on protein contents of extruded composite flour samples. The value of coefficient of determination indicates that model developed for predicting product protein contents could explain 98.94% of the variation (Appendix table 1). The regression model for protein was shown by equation in Appendix table 2

The minimum values of protein content was recorded at highest proportion of oat flour in the formulation (65%:14%:6%) of oat, soybean and linseed respectively. The mean maximum values of protein contents of the formulation was recorded at highest soybean and linseed flour content in the formulation (55%: 23%: 7%) of oat, soybean and linseed respectively. Figure 6 indicates that the protein content of extruded composite flour increased with an increasing proportion of soybean and linseed in the blend on the other hand increasing proportion of oat flour in the blend decreased the protein contents of the formulation.



Figure 5: Contour plot of protein content (%) of instant complementary flour

The highest protein content at highest percentage of soybean in oat, soybean and linseed blend might be due to high protein contents of soybean and linseed. Similar results were reported by different researchers, the increase in the protein content and energy values of foods that have been enriched with soybean has been reported by many investigators (Bangoura and Zhou, 2007; Martin *et al.*, 2010). Omwamba and Mahungu (2014) also reported that the inclusion of a soy protein source in cereal flour increases the protein content and improves the amino acid balance in the extruded products which ultimately improves the nutritional value of the products.

According to Hotz and Gibson (2001), the blending of cereal based foods with legumes and their processing methods improves the protein content of the flour. Onwulata *et al.* (2001) reported incorporation of protein rich materials into extruded products will not only increase the utilization of products but also improve the products nutritive value by increasing the protein content.

The recommended dietary allowance (RDA) for the protein content in the complementary foods was recommended to $be \ge 15\%$ (FAO, 2004) and the result of present study can satisfy the protein requirements of children under the age of two years. Therefore, fortifying cereals with pulses and linseed can satisfy the protein requirements of young children in developing countries like Ethiopia and can reduce protein malnutrition.

4.1.4. Fat content

The mean fat contents of the formulations were showed in Table 8. The mean minimum and maximum values of fat contents of the extruded composite flour varies from 6.8% to 9.9%. ANOVA showed significant difference (p < 0.05) in fat content of the extruded composite flours at quadratic model and interactions of soybean with linseed. The regression models, developed to predict the fat content of the formulation was explained 98.39% of the variation (Appendix table 1). The regression model for crude fat was shown as equation in Appendix table 2

Minimum fat content was recorded at highest proportion of oat flour in the formulation (65% oat, 14% soybean and 6% linseed). The maximum fat content was recorded at high proportion of soybean and linseed in the formulation (55% oat, 19% soybean and 11% linseed). Increasing the proportion of soybean and linseed flour in the blend increased the fat content of the formulation, however increasing the proportion of oat flour decreased the fat content of the formulation as indicated by Figure 6.



Figure 6: Contour plot of fat content (%) of instant complementary flour

The fat content of the extrudates increased consistently with increasing soybean and linseed proportions for all extrudates of the oat-soybean-linseed blends and decreased with increased proportion of oat flour in the blend, this may be because soybean and linseed is known to contain considerably high amounts of fat.

This result is in agreement with results of Joel *et al.* (2011) who reported that fat content of wheat flour increased with the addition of soybean flour. A research by Okoye *et al.* (2008) revealed that fat content increased from 0.82 to 18.4% as the amount of soybean increase from 0% to 100% in the final product. A study conducted by Aleem *et al.* (2012) on blending of soybean flour in composite flour showed that the fat content increased with increasing soybean.

Plant fat is a good source of energy and helps in absorption of most fat soluble vitamins and minerals. Dietary lipids provide essential fatty acids and facilitate the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins (Uauy *et al.*, 2000). In the current study, soybean and linseed were used as the main fat suppliers. Soybean oil can provide the recommended amounts of fat (WHO, 1998). Vegetable oils can be included in foods meant for infants and children, which will not only increase the energy density, but also be a carrier for fat soluble vitamins and provide essential fatty acids. Soybean and cereals contain unsaturated fats (Wikramanayake, 1996) which does not increase the cholesterol in the blood hence can be recommended for children.

Therefore, enrichment of cereals crops with legumes and oilseed improves the fat content of complementary food of infant and young children with very high fat requirement to compensate glucose deficiency due to high body activity at this particular developmental period. Protein Advisory group (1972) recommended fat content of a complementary feeding should be not more than 10% due to oxidative deterioration. The result of the study can satisfy the Protein Advisory group's recommendation.

4.1.5. Ash content

The mean ash contents of the formulations were indicated in Table 8. The minimum and maximum ash content of the extruded composite flour ranges from 2.3 to 3.1% respectively. ANOVA showed a highly significant (p < 0.01) effect of proportion of oat, soybean and linseed and quadratic model on ash content of the blend. The regression models, developed to predict the ash content, explained 94.50% of the variations (Appendix table 1). The regression model for ash was shown as equation in (Appendix table 2) indicating quadratic model with three variables

The minimum ash content was recorded at higher proportions of oat flour in oat, soybean and linseed blend (63%:11%:11%) respectively. The maximum ash contents of the formulation was recorded at highest proportion of soybean flour in oat, soybean and linseed blend (55%:23%:7) respectively. The ash contents of the formulations increased with increasing the proportion of soybean and decreased with increasing the proportion of oat and linseed flour in the formulation as shown in Figure 7



Figure 7: Contour plot of ash content (%) of instant complementary flour

Ash content of the blends increased with increasing content of soybean flour in the blend. This might be because of high percentage of inorganic contents in soybean than oat and linseed. The finding is in line with the report of Okoye *et al.* (2008) who stated that ash contents of the blended products increased as the level of soybean flour inclusion increase. The increased noted in the ash content of the malted sorghum-soy flour may be attributed to the higher mineral content of soybean, legumes have been reported to be good sources of ash Bolarinwa *et al.* (2015)

Acceptable ash content of complementary food, as given by the Protein Advisory Group recommendations (1972), should not exceed 5%. The extruded instant flour studied in the current study was within this limit as well.

4.1.6. Carbohydrate content

The mean carbohydrate contents of the formulations were indicated in Table 8. The minimum and maximum value of carbohydrate content of the extruded composite flour varies from 59.8 to 63.7% respectively. ANOVA has shown there was highly significant difference (p < 0.01) in quadratic model and interaction among the components on carbohydrate contents of extruded composite flour.

The coefficient of determination for carbohydrate indicates that models developed to predict the carbohydrate content was explained 97.86% of the variations (Appendix table 1). The regression model for carbohydrate was shown as Equation in (Appendix table 2) indicating quadratic model with three variables.

The minimum carbohydrate content was obtained at highest soybean and lowest oat and linseed blend (55%: 23%: 7%), maximum carbohydrate content was obtained at high oat and flaxseed proportion in the blend and lowest soybean (63%:11%: 11%). The increasing of oat and linseed flour in the formulation increased carbohydrate contents of the formulation on the other hand increasing the proportion of soybean decreased the carbohydrate contents as indicated by Figure 8.



Figure 8: Contour plot of carbohydrate content (%) of instant complementary flour
Carbohydrate is an important source of energy in diet. It includes sugars or polymers of sugar such as starch that can be hydrolyzed to simple sugars. Carbohydrate containing food is important vehicle for protein, vitamins, minerals and other food components such as phytochemicals and antioxidants (Bowman and Russel, 2001).

All products containing high proportions of oat had higher carbohydrate content compared to those that had lower proportions of oat. This could be because cereals like oat have high carbohydrate contents than soybean. The results obtained in this study is similar to the findings of Okoye *et al.* (2008) who reported a decrease in carbohydrate content of wheat-soybean flour blend with increasing soy flour substitution. Sefa-Dedeh *et al.* (2001) also reported that addition of legumes decreases the carbohydrate content of cereal-based traditional foods. In addition, Bolarinwa *et al.* (2015) concluded that carbohydrate content of the malted sorghum soybean flour decreased with increase in the proportion of the soybean flour in the mixes, which indicate that soybeans are not good sources of carbohydrate.

4.1.7. Gross Energy

The mean energy contents of the formulations were presented in (Table 8). The minimum and maximum energy content of the formulation varies from 384.5 to 408.2kcal/100g respectively. ANOVA has shown no significant (p > 0.05) difference statistically at both quadratic and interaction among the components. The coefficient of determination regression models, developed to predict the energy content explained 98.14% of the variations (Appendix table 1). The regression model for energy was shown as equation in (Appendix table 2) indicating quadratic model with three variables.

The minimum energy density of the blend was recorded at highest proportions of oat in the blend (65%: 14%: 6%.) oat, soybean and linseed respectively. The maximum energy density was recorded at high proportion of soybean and linseed (55%:19%:11%) oat, soybean and linseed respectively in the blend. The energy content of the formulations increased with increasing the proportion of soybean and linseed flour and decreased with increasing proportion of oat flour in the blend as shown by Figure 9.



Figure 9: Contour plot of energy content (kcal) of instant complementary flour

Increasing proportion of soybean and linseed flour in the blend increased the energy density of the composite instant flour, it may be due to high fat content in soybean and linseed which contributes to high energy contents, as fat provides more than double of carbohydrate and protein energy.

The result of this thesis is supported by Michaelsen *et al.* (2009) who reported that, the most important factor influencing energy density is the fat content, as the energy density of fat (9 kcal per g) is more than double that of protein and carbohydrate (4 kcal/g). Induja *et al.* (2012) also reported that fortified high protein and high calorie supplementation of biscuits revealed that maximum amount of calorie was found in the biscuits containing the highest amount of soybean flour. Onabanjo *et al.* (2009) in his study on characteristics of complementary food observed that the high fat content of legume and oil crops flour further increased the energy density of the products developed from different formulas.

High energy density in foods has been pointed out as a major cause of fast growth and well nourishment among undernourished children (Dewey and Brown, 2003). Enrichment of oat based formulations with soybeans and linseed improved their energy densities. Energy density is one of the most important qualities of foods for wasted children. If the energy density is too low and food is bulky, then the child would not be able to get enough calories (Michaelsen *et*

al., 2009). Energy density is most important for children, as they have an increased energy need for catch-up growth.

The energy content of instant composite flour was above the specified minimum value of 380kcal for fortified blended foods by technical specifications of FAO (2004). Generally, the formulations with high proportions of soybean had higher energy density. This was because soybean is rich in fat and protein which contribute to higher energy density.

4.2. Mineral Content of Instant Complementary Flour

The mean mineral (calcium iron and zinc) content of composite instant flours is presented in the Table 10 below. The minimum and maximum calcium, iron and zinc contents in (mg/100gm) were, 101.3-124.4, 6.6-7.8 and 2.9-3.0 respectively.

Mixture composition (%)				Mineral contents (mg/100gm)			
Oat	Soybean	Linseed	Premix*	Ca	Fe	Zn	
57.9	19.9	7.2	15.0	116.9	7.5	3.0	
57.4	17.9	9.7	15.0	117.6	7.4	3.0	
56.0	23.0	6.0	15.0	121.2	7.8	3.0	
65.0	11.0	9.0	15.0	101.3	6.6	2.9	
62.4	15.4	7.2	15.0	107.8	7.0	3.0	
55.0	19.0	11.0	15.0	122.4	7.4	3.0	
62.4	13.9	8.7	15.0	107.2	6.9	2.9	
57.4	19.9	7.7	15.0	118.7	7.5	3.0	
63.0	11.0	11.0	15.0	104.9	6.6	2.9	
59.8	16.8	8.3	15.0	113.1	7.2	3.0	
55.0	23.0	7.0	15.0	124.4	7.8	3.0	
61.4	13.9	9.7	15.0	110.0	6.9	2.9	
65.0	14.0	6.0	15.0	102.5	6.8	2.9	

Table 9: Mineral content of instant complementary flour

Premix (9.9% sugar, 3% moringa, 1.5% fenugreek and 0.6% salt)

Analysis of variance outputs for mineral (calcium iron and zinc) content of composite instant flours are summarized in Appendix table 3. ANOVA has shown that minerals (Ca, Fe and Zn) contents were not significantly (P > 0.05) different statistically but there increment of minerals with increasing of soybean in the blend.

4.2.1. Calcium

The mean calcium contents of the formulations are presented in Table 10. The minimum and maximum calcium content of composite instant flour ranges from 101.3-124.4mg/100gm respectively. ANOVA has shown that the model for predicting calcium content is satisfactory. The model developed for predicting product calcium contents could explain 99.73% of the variations (Appendix table 3) and the regression model for predicting calcium content is presented in Equation (Appendix table 4)

Minimum calcium contents was recorded at the highest proportion of oat flour (65%:14%:6%) in the blend and maximum calcium content of the formulation was recorded at high proportion of soybean and linseed flour (55%:19%:11%). The increasing of soybean and linseed flour increased the calcium contents of the formulation, on contrary the increasing of oat flour decreased the calcium contents of the formulation as indicated by Figure 10



Figure 10: Contour plots of Calcium contents (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour

The calcium contents of the composite instant flour increased with increasing of soybean and linseed, which indicates that soybean and linseed contain higher amounts of calcium. The result of the current research in agreement with a research done by Bolarinwa *et al.* (2015) who reported that, calcium content of the composite flour increased as the proportion of soy flour increases in the composite flour mixes. A similar result has been reported by Rawat *et al.* (1994), soybean fortified chapattis contained higher calcium than wheat flour chapattis.

Jan *et al.* (2000) also reported that oilseeds flour contained appreciable quantity of mineral which resulted in increase in mineral contents of composite flours. In addition to soybean and linseed flour the presence of moringa contributes for high calcium contents of the formulation. Calcium was observed to be higher in moringa compared with other plant sources (Nkafamiya *et al.*, 2010).

The calcium contents of the extruded composite flour varies from 101.3 to 124.4mg/100gm, the RDA for 6 to 12 months and 13 to 36 months infant was 270 mg and 500 mg per day respectively (Food and Nutrition Board, 2005). The current blended product can meet only 37.62 to 46.06% and 20 to 24.88 % of the RDA for infant and children respectively. The blended products have better calcium content but still it needs calcium fortification or enrichment with calcium rich agricultural products to meet the RDA for infants.

4.2.2. Iron

The minimum and maximum iron contents of extruded composite flour were 6.55- 7.82 mg/100g respectively. The coefficient of determination models, developed to predict the iron content, explained 99.87% of the variations (Appendix table 3) and the regression model for predicting iron content is presented in Equation (Appendix table 4). ANOVA has shown that iron content did not show significant difference (P > 0.05) statistically however, there was an increment in the iron content from 6.6 to 7.8mg/100gm with an increase in proportion of soybean flour. The iron contents of the flour were increased with increasing of soybean flour, but decreased with increasing of oat flour as indicated by contour plot (Figure11); this might be due to high mineral contents of soybean as compared to oat and linseed.





The result of the current research was similar to a research done by, Bolarinwa *et al.* (2015) who reported that, iron content of composite flour increased as the proportion of soybean flour increases in the composite flour mixes. Gebretsadikan *et al.* (2015) also reported that the composition of iron increased as the proportion of soybean and moringa flour increased in formulations.

According to Food and Nutrition Board (2005) the RDA of iron for infant of 6 to 12 month was 11 mg/ day and 7 mg/day for children of 13 to 36 months. The iron content of the current formulations ranged from 6.6 - 7.8 mg/100gm, which can meets 59.54 to 71 % of the RDA for 6 to 12 month life stage infants and 93.57 to 100% for 13 to 36 months life stage children in lower and higher value respectively. The formulation of this study can fulfill iron requirements of infants 70-100%.

4.2.3. Zinc

The mean zinc contents of the formulation were showed in Table 10. The minimum and maximum zinc content varies from 2.9 to 3.0mg/100gm respectively in extruded composite flour. ANOVA has shown that the model for predicting zinc content is satisfactory. The regression models, developed to predict the zinc content, of the formulation was explained 98.97% of the variations (Appendix table 3) and the regression model for predicting zinc content is presented as equation (Appendix table 4).

The minimum zinc content of the formulation was obtained at highest proportion of oat and linseed flour and the maximum zinc contents of the formulation were obtained at highest proportion of soybean flour. The zinc contents of the formulation were increased with increasing the proportion of soybean flour in the blend Figure 12.



Figure 12: Contour plots of zinc contents (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour

The result of the current research was similar to a research done by, Bolarinwa *et al.* (2015) who reported that, zinc content of the composite flour increased as the proportion of soybean flour increases in the composite flour mixes. Isingoma *et al.* (2015) reported that, moringa fortified porridges had the best nutrient composition and were able to meet zinc recommendations of the CODEX requirements.

The RDA of zinc for infant under age of two years is 3mg/100gm (Food and Nutrition Board, 2005). The current developed formulation can provide minimum and maximum of 2.9 and 3.0mg/100gm zinc respectively, which can fulfill 97 to 100% zinc RDA of infants under two years. The presence of moringa in the extruded composite flours boosted the mineral contents of the product.

Some scholars have shown the potential of moringa in improving child nutrition (Thierry *et al.*, 2013, Odinakachukwu *et al.*, 2014). Adequate processing and careful blending of the locally available foods has been encouraged as a measure of improving intake of nutrients among children in areas with limited resources (Lombor *et al.*, 2009).

4.3. β-carotene content of Instant Complementary Flour

The mean total β -carotene content of extruded composite flour is presented in the Table 10. The β -carotene content of composite flours varied between 1308.78 to 1900.33 µg/100g as represented in Table 10.

Mixture composition (%)					
Oat	Soybean	Linseed	Premix*	β - carotene $\mu g/100g$	
57.9	19.9	7.2	15.0	1532.8	
57.4	17.9	9.7	15.0	1731.3	
56.0	23.0	6.0	15.0	1308.8	
65.0	11.0	9.0	15.0	1900.3	
62.4	15.4	7.2	15.0	1782.5	
55.0	19.0	11.0	15.0	1552.5	
62.4	13.9	8.7	15.0	1828.0	
57.4	19.9	7.7	15.0	1688.2	
63.0	11.0	11.0	15.0	1480.0	
59.8	16.8	8.3	15.0	1715.1	
55.0	23.0	7.0	15.0	1496.5	
61.4	13.9	9.7	15.0	1716.0	
65.0	14.0	6.0	15.0	1672.8	

Table 10: β -carotene content of the instant complementary flour

Premix (9.9% sugar, 3% moringa, 1.5% fenugreek and 0.6% salt)

The mean total β - carotene content of composite instant flours varied from1308.8 to 1900.3µg/100g. ANOVA has shown highly significant (P < 0.01) difference in β -carotene content of composite instant flours samples in quadratic model and interaction among the ingredients (Appendix table 3) The regression models developed to predict the β - carotene content of composite instant flours, was explained 96.69% of the variations (Appendix table 3) and the regression model predicting beta carotene contents was indicated as Equation (Appendix table 4).

The highest beta carotene was recorded at higher proportions of oat and linseed in the blend and the lowest was recorded at highest soybean content in the blend of oat-soy- linseed as showed in Table10. β - Carotene contents of the formulation was decreased with increasing the proportion of soybean flour in the formulation and increased with decreasing the proportion of soybean flour in the formulation. The high beta carotene content of the extruded infant composite flour may be due to the presence of moringa in the formulation. This is supported by Abraham *et al.* (2013), who found that beta-carotene content increased significantly with increase in moringa leaf powder which is due to the much higher level of β -carotene in moringa leaf powder as compared to wheat flour. Moringa has demonstrated the potential of improving vitamin A (Thurber and Fahey, 2009). The result of this study is also in agreement with findings of Gebretsadikan *et al.* (2015) who reported that an increase in total carotenoid content was observed for porridges prepared from higher proportions of orange fleshed sweet potato and moringa.

4.4. Anti-Nutritional Factors of Instant Complementary Flour

The mean values of anti nutritional (phytate and tannin) contents obtained from extruded composite flour are shown in Table11. The minimum and maximum values of anti nutritional factor contents of extruded composite flour were 158.93-191.33mg/100gm and 8.4-22.89mg/100gm for phytate and tannin respectively.

Mixture composition (%)				Anti nutritional contents (mg/100gm)			
Oat	Soybean	Linseed	Premix*	Phytate	Tannin		
57.9	19.9	7.2	15.0	180.60	13.69		
57.4	17.9	9.7	15.0	181.57	14.64		
56.0	23.0	6.0	15.0	178.43	17.27		
65.0	11.0	9.0	15.0	170.82	10.41		
62.4	15.4	7.2	15.0	174.80	10.82		
55.0	19.0	11	15.0	190.56	22.89		
62.4	13.9	8.7	15.0	170.02	11.29		
57.4	19.9	7.7	15.0	187.85	15.63		
63.0	11.0	11.	15.0	158.93	16.52		
59.8	16.8	8.3	15.0	175.48	14.22		
55.0	23.0	7.0	15.0	191.33	21.13		
61.4	13.9	9.7	15.0	177.39	12.03		
65.0	14.0	6.0	15.0	180.57	8.40		

Table 11: Anti nutritional factor contents of instant complementary flour

Premix (9.9% sugar, 3% moringa, 1.5% fenugreek and 0.6% salt)

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for models, interaction of components and coefficient of determination (R^2 value) are summarized in Appendix table 5. ANOVA indicates that there was significant (P < 0.05) difference in anti-nutritional (phytate and tannin) contents of

extruded composite flour. Coefficient of determination (R^2 values) of antinutrional factor contents of extruded composite flour indicated that the models can sufficiently predict the responses.

4.5.1. Phytate

The minimum and maximum mean value of phytate content of the composite instant flour varies from 158.93-191.33 mg/100gm respectively. ANOVA table showed that there was significant (p < 0.05) difference at only quadratic model. The regression models developed to predict the phytate content, was explained 89.86% of the variations (Appendix table 5). The regression model for phytate was shown by Equation in (Appendix table 6) in the quadratic model with three variables.

Phytate present in raw materials and foods of plant origin are suggested to be a major factor responsible for lowering the availability of minerals and some proteins (Shimelis and Rakshit, 2006).

The lowest phytate (158.93 mg/100gm) was recorded at minimum proportion of soybean and high proportion of oat and linseed in oat-soybean-linseed blend (63%-11%-11%). The highest phytate content (191.33mg/100gm) was recorded at maximum proportion of soybean in oat-soybean-linseed blend (55%-23%-7%). Contour plot (Figure 13) indicates that, phytate content of the extruded composite flour was increased as the proportion of soybean flour increased in the blend. In contrary to this phytate content decreased with increasing proportion of oat flour in the blend. This may be due to phytic acid contents of soybean that contribute for high phytate content at high proportion of soybean in the blend.



Figure 13: Contour plot of phytate content (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour

The result of the finding is in agreement with other findings. Liener (2000) found that phytate content of a bread increased as the amount of soybean flour increased in the bread. This is because of the high amount of phytate found in soybeans. Tajoddin *et al.* (2011) also reported that phytate content is high in legumes and decrease the bioavailability of essential mineral and bioavailability of protein by forming insoluble phytate mineral and phytate protein complex.

4.5.2. Tannin

The minimum and maximum tannin content of extruded composite flour varies from 8.40 to 22.89 mg/100gm. Tannin content of the extruded composite flour showed a significant (p < 0.05) effect at quadratic model, however the interaction effect was not significant (p > 0.05), The regression models, developed to predict the tannin content, explained 89.86% of the variations (Appendix table 5). The regression model for tannin was shown by equation (Appendix table 6) in the quadratic model with three variables.

Tannins form insoluble complexes with proteins thereby decreasing the digestibility of proteins (Uzoechina, 2007). Tannins also decrease palatability, cause damage to intestinal tract, and enhance carcinogenesis (Makkar and Becker, 1996).

The maximum tannin content was recorded at high proportion of soybean and linseed in oatsoybean-linseed blend (55%:19%:11%) and minimum tannin content was recorded at highest oat proportion in the blend (65%:14%:6%). Tannin content of the formulations increased with increasing the proportion of linseed and soybean flour in the formulation. On the other hand increasing the proportion of oat flour decreased the tannin contents of the formulation as indicated in Figure 14.



Figure 14: Contour plot of tannin content (mg/100gm) of instant complementary flour

The tannin contents of the flour increased as the proportion of soybean and linseed increased. This might be due to high anti nutritional (tannin) contents of soybean and linseed. The finding of the present study is in agreement with that of Folake *et al.* (2012) who concluded that amount of tannin in bread increased as the amount of soybean flour increased.

4.5. Functional Properties of Complementary instant Flour

The mean functional properties (water absorption capacities and bulk density) of composite instant flour were presented in Table 12. The bulk density ranges from 0.93 to 0.98 gm/ml for extruded composite instant flour. The Water absorption capacity of extruded instant flour varies from 3.06 to 3.41ml.

Mixture	compositi	on (%)	Functional properties			
Oat	Soybean	Linseed	Premix*	BD (gm/ml)	WAC (ml)	
57.9	19.9	7.2	15.0	0.94	3.19	
57.4	17.9	9.7	15.0	0.95	3.28	
56.0	23.0	6.0	15.0	0.93	3.31	
65.0	11.0	9.0	15.0	0.97	3.10	
62.4	15.4	7.2	15.0	0.96	3.07	
55.0	19.0	11.0	15.0	0.96	3.41	
62.4	13.9	8.7	15.0	0.96	3.14	
57.4	19.9	7.7	15.0	0.94	3.24	
63.0	11.0	11.0	15.0	0.94	3.24	
59.8	16.8	8.3	15.0	0.95	3.20	
55.0	23.0	7.0	15.0	0.94	3.30	
61.4	13.9	9.7	15.0	0.95	3.15	
65.0	14.0	6.0	15.0	0.98	3.06	

Table 12: Functional properties of instant complementary flour

Premix (9.9% sugar, 3% moringa, 1.5% fenugreek and 0.6% salt)

The analyses of variance (ANOVA) of functional properties of composite instant infant flour were summarized in Appendix table 5. ANOVA has shown significance (p<0.05) difference.. High coefficient of determination (\mathbb{R}^2 value) indicates that the model can sufficiently predict the responses.

4.4.1. Bulk density

The mean values of bulk density of composite instant flour ranges from 0.93 to 0.98gm/ml. ANOVA has shown a highly significant (p < 0.01) difference in quadratic model, interaction of oat with soybean and soybean with linseed. The regression models, developed to predict the bulk density of the extruded composite flour explained 97.97% of the variations (Appendix table 5).

The bulk density of the flour is high in blend at which the proportion of oat is highest and low at highest proportion of soybean and linseed in the blend, as described in the (Table 12). This may relate to high fiber contents in oat which contributes for increasing bulk density of the flour. Increasing the proportion of oat flour in the formulation increased the fiber contents of extruded composite flours. In opposite to this, increased proportion of soybean decreased fiber contents of the extruded composite flour as indicated in contour plot (Figure 15).



Figure 15: Contour plot of bulk density (g/ml) of instant complementary flour

Bulk density is a measure of heaviness of flour (Oladele and Aina, 2007). The value of bulk density of this finding is within the range of 0.96- 0.98gm/ml reported by Kavitha and Parimalavalli (2014) for extruded complementary foods.

The finding of this thesis is in agreement with the finding of Veronica *et al.* (2006) who reported that as fiber and protein-rich materials are added to starchy materials, the density of expanded product is increased. Bolarinwa *et al.* (2015) reported that the bulk density of the composite flour decreased with increasing level of soybean flour substitution in the mixes. Ryu, (2004) reported that bulk density of the product increases with increasing fiber content. Siddharth, (2014) also reported that the higher bulk density may be due to the presence of more crude fiber in the composite flour sample.

4.4.2. Water Absorption Capacity

The mean value of water absorption capacity (WAC) of extruded flour varies from 3.06-3.41ml. ANOVA has shown highly significant (p < 0.01) effects in quadratic model and interaction between oat with linseed, soybean with linseed, but the interaction of oat and soybean was not significant (p > 0.05). Coefficient of determination model, developed to predict the WAC of the extruded composite flour explained 96.75% of the variations (Appendix table 5). The regression model for WAC of extruded composite flour was represented in Equation (Appendix table 6) as indicated in quadratic model with three variables.

The minimum water absorption capacity of composite instant flour was recorded at highest proportion of oat flour in the formulation and maximum values of water absorption capacities were recorded at high proportion of soybean and linseed flour in the formulation as indicated in contour plot (Figure 16) for extruded composite flour.



Figure 16: Contour plot of WAC in (ml) of instant complementary flour

The water absorption capacity gives an indication of the amount of water available for gelatinization (Kulkarni, *et al*, 1990). Water absorption capacity depends on the availability of the hydrophilic groups to bind water molecules and the gel-forming ability of the macromolecules. Indications are that the damaged starch granules absorb considerable amounts of water at room temperature and swells resulting in increased viscosity (Colonna *et al*. 2004).

The water absorption capacity of the blend was increased as the proportion of soybean and linseed increased in the blend. This may be, because of high water absorption capacity of soybean as compared to oat; the protein denatured during extrusion cooking made the soybean flour to absorb more water.

The result is in agreement with the observation of Igyor *et al.* (2011) who suggested that protein functions in binding water and fat while retaining them. Thus, the availability of

soybean protein has increased its ability to absorb water. Amarjeet *et al.* (1995), who reported that increased water absorption with increased soybean flour fortification. Ojinnaka *et al.* (2013) also reported that water absorption capacity increasing with increased inclusion of soybean flour to the samples

4.6. Sensory Quality of Gruel Made from Instant Complementary Flour

The mean values of sensory attributes (appearance, aroma, taste, mouth feel consistency and over all acceptability) are presented in Table 13. The minimum and maximum values of appearance, aroma, taste, mouth feel, and consistency and over all acceptability of instant composite flour were 2.96-3.72, 3.56-3.77, 3.45-3.80, 3.40-3.80, 3.60-3.96, and 3.61-4.0 respectively. The mean score of sensory attributes of the gruel prepared from barley flour and *'mittin'* were also indicated (Table 13). The mean scores of sensory evaluation showed that all the gruel prepared from extruded composite flours were within the acceptable range (scores > 3) from 5 point hedonic scale.

Mixture composition (%)				Sensory score (5 point hedonic scale)					
	Soy			Appear			Mouth	consist	
Oat	bean	Linseed	Premix*	ance	Aroma	Taste	feel	ency	OA
57.92	19.92	7.17	15	3.39	3.60	3.48	3.65	3.67	3.62
57.42	17.92	9.67	15	3.36	3.72	3.55	3.72	3.68	3.80
56.00	23.00	6.00	15	3.32	3.64	3.56	3.60	3.76	3.72
65.00	11.00	9.00	15	3.20	3.68	3.80	3.48	3.96	4.00
62.42	15.42	7.17	15	3.46	3.64	3.63	3.54	3.80	3.64
55.00	19.00	11.0	15	3.12	3.77	3.45	3.68	3.68	3.61
62.42	13.92	8.67	15	3.36	3.62	3.66	3.60	3.84	3.86
57.42	19.92	7.67	15	3.24	3.60	3.52	3.68	3.60	3.96
63.00	11.00	11.0	15	2.96	3.68	3.52	3.72	3.93	3.80
59.83	16.83	8.33	15	3.48	3.56	3.64	3.63	3.64	3.76
55.00	23.00	7.00	15	3.44	3.74	3.60	3.80	3.80	3.84
61.42	13.92	9.67	15	3.28	3.60	3.56	3.60	3.88	3.75
65.00	14.00	6.00	15	3.72	3.76	3.60	3.40	3.80	3.76
Barley				3.56	3.60	3.72	3.68	3.84	3.96
'Mitin'				3.72	3.52	3.32	3.64	3.84	3.76

Table 13: Mean score of sensory result of gruel evaluated by panelist.

Premix (9.9% sugar, 3% moringa, 1.5% fenugreek and 0.6% salt), OA= Overall acceptability, Mitin

Sensory qualities are the main criterion that makes a product to be liked or disliked (Falola *et al.*, 2011). Sensory analysis or sensory evaluation is a scientific discipline that is done by the use of human senses for the purposes of evaluating the suitability and preference of the consumer to the products. Organoleptic properties are the aspects of food or other substances as experienced by the senses, including taste, sight, smell, and touch (Delwiche, 2004)

Mean comparisons of gruel from composite instant flour with gruel from '*mitin*' and barley flour was made to see the sensory acceptance of the currently developed formulation with what the community is already using. Accordingly, in all sensory attributes, the gruel made from extruded composite flour was preferred. The maximum appearance score for '*mitin*' and the developed formulation was equal as indicated in Table 13 but for others the currently developed product was preferred.

Analysis of variance, for quadratic, interaction among the ingredients and coefficient of determination in % for sensory attributes (appearance, aroma taste, mouth feel, consistency and overall acceptability) are summarized in Appendix table 7. ANOVA showed that all the sensory attributes (except for appearance and mouth feel) are significantly (p < 0.05) different. The values of Coefficient of determination (R^2 values) of sensory attributes indicated that the models can sufficiently predict the responses (Table 13)

4.6.1. Appearance

The appearance of the gruel sensory score ranges between 2.96 and 3.72. ANOVA has showed that the model developed for predicting appearance is satisfactory. The coefficient of determination models, developed to predict the appearance could explained 82.90% of the variations (Appendix table 7) and the regression model for predicting appearance is presented as equation (Appendix table 8).

The minimum score of appearance was recorded at the highest linseed and high soybean flour in the formulation. The maximum score for appearance was obtained at the highest proportion of oat flour in the gruel. The sensory acceptance of appearance of the gruel increased as the proportion of oat flour increased in the formulation, but the sensory score of appearance was decreased with increasing proportion of soybean and linseed flour in the gruel (Figure 17). It may be due to white color of oat flour that makes the appearance of the gruel more acceptable at high proportion of oat flour.



Figure 17: Contour plot of appearance (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel

Appearance is one of organoleptic attributes that evokes the initial response of panelist. Vision plays a major role in sensory analysis and the appearance of food can have a major effect on its acceptability (Tizazu *et al.*, 2010). The finding of present study is in agreement with United States Department of Agriculture, (2007) report; the probable reason for the low score of appearance at high percentage of linseed could be brown color of linseed which became dark brown at high baking temperature. Maillard reaction may have also contributed to the darker color of bakery products due to the high protein content of flaxseed and soy bean (Borrelli *et al.*, 2003).

Additionally the presence of moringa affects the appearance of the gruel due to its green color (chlorophyll contents of moringa leaves). This finding is in line with the result of Gebretsadikan *et al.* (2015) who reported that the presence of moringa influences the degree of acceptance of a product.

Even though the added moringa reduce the appearance of the gruel, the gruel prepared from extrusion cooked composite has the same maximum sensory score for appearance with the reference gruel made from '*mittin*' but its better preferred than barley flour gruel.

4.6.2. Aroma

The mean aroma scores of the gruels vary from 3.56 to 3.77. The aroma of the gruel showed highly significant (p < 0.01) difference in quadratic model and interaction between oat and soybean and showed significant (p < 0.05) difference in interaction between oat and linseed. The interaction of soybean and linseed showed no significant difference. The regression models, developed to predict the aroma explained 81.89% of the variations (Appendix table 1) and the regression model for predicting aroma is presented as equation (Appendix table 8).

The lowest aroma score was recorded at high proportion of oat in the blend (59.83%, 16.83% and 8.33%) in oat-soybean and linseed blend respectively and the highest score for aroma was recorded at high proportion of soybean and linseed in the blend (55%, 19% & 11%) oat, soybean and linseed blend respectively. Contour plot Figure 18 indicated that aroma of the gruel increases with increasing of oat flour until certain point, but increasing of linseed flour proportion increases aroma score of the gruel consistently.



Figure 18: Contour plot of aroma (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel

The high preference of aroma attribute at high soybean and linseed may be due to flavor imparted by soybean and linseed up on heating during extrusion cooking. This result is in agreement with Ojinnaka *et al.* (2013) who reported that the increase in aroma ratings could be due to the presence of flavor imparted by the oils in soybean.

The extrusion process enhances the acceptability of gruel prepared from extruded soybean flour because of dextrinization and starch breakdown (Mensah and Tomkins, 2003).

The gruel prepared from extruded composite flour scored high sensory values as compared to the reference gruel prepared from '*mittin*' and barley flour, this might be because of ingredients used and the extrusion cooking that enhance the acceptability of the gruel.

Aroma is an integral part of taste and general acceptance of the food before it is put in the mouth (Muhimbula *et al.*, 2011). Aroma enhances acceptability of complementary foods. The sensations of taste and smell are functions of flavor which is a complex of sensations (Iwe, 2007). It is the flavor of a food that ultimately determines its acceptance or rejection, even though its appearance evokes the initial response.

4.6.3. Taste

The mean sensory score of taste for the gruels varies from 3.45 to 3.8. ANOVA has showed that the model for predicting taste was significant (p < 0.05) difference in quadratic and interaction with the ingredients. The regression models, developed to predict the taste explained 82.60% of the variations (Appendix table 7) and the regression model for predicting taste is presented as equation (Appendix table 8)

The minimum taste score (3.45) of the gruel was recorded at high proportion of soybean and linseed (55%: 19%: 11%) oat, soybean and linseed blend respectively. The maximum taste sensory score (3.80) of the gruel was recorded at high proportion of oat in the formulation (65%: 11%: 9%). The taste of the gruel increased with increasing proportion of oat where as decreased with increasing proportion of linseed in the blend as indicated by contour plot (Figure 19). This may be due to development of taste during extrusion cooking in which oat starch is degraded in to its simplest form.



Figure 19: Contour plot of taste (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel

The sensory acceptance taste of the gruel was increased with increasing proportion of oat. This may be due to beany taste of soybean and unacceptable high nutty flavor imparted by linseed. The finding of this thesis in agreement with the result of Tortoe *et al.* (2014) who suggests that higher proportions of legume flour in the blend reduced taste for the porridge. The observation is likely to have resulted from coarseness and beany flavor introduced by the flour from legumes, which affected taste of the porridge. Beany flavor is related to lipoxygenases and is undesirable and greatly reduces the acceptability of products containing cowpea and soybean (Bott and Chambers, 2006).

Other studies also showed a reduction in acceptability of cowpea-fortified complementary foods as a result of the high cowpea inclusion levels because of the coarseness and beany flavor imparted by the cowpea (Olapade *et al.*, 2012). Similar studies indicated that acceptability of bread fortified with soybean flour also reduced with increase in proportion of soybean (Natal *et al.*, 2013).

The sensory score for the reference (*'mittin'* and barley) is very low as compared to extrusion cooked gruel. This may be related to extrusion cooking of the formulation in which starch is degraded in to its simplest sugar form and nature of the ingredient used in the extruded composite flour gruel's.

4.6.4. Mouth feel

The mean mouth feel score varies from 3.40 to 3.80. ANOVA has showed no significant difference (p > 0.05) among the samples and quadratic model in terms of the mouth feel; even though the mean value varies from 3.40 to 3.80. The coefficient of determination regression models, developed to predict the mouth feel explained 82.07% of the variations (Appendix table 7) and the regression model for predicting taste is presented by equation (Appendix table 7).

The least mouth feel value was scored at maximum proportion of oat in the blend (65%:14%: 6%) and maximum sensory value of mouth feel was recorded at highest proportion of soybean and linseed in the blend (55%:19%:11%) oat, soybean and linseed blend respectively as indicated in Figure 20.



Figure 20: Contour plot of mouth feel (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel

The mouth feel is very important in a complementary food as it will determine the amount of food an infant would consume since they can only swallow a smooth gruel not a coarse one. The reference gruel sample prepared from '*mittin*' and barley flour had relatively low sensory score for mouth feel as compared to extruded composite flour gruel samples. The probable reasons for high mouth feel score for extruded composite flour may be the extruded composite flour was grinded in to fine flour. Similar result was reported by Swai (2013)

grinding the extrudates after extrusion resulted in very fine textured flour that made cooked gruel to be very smooth.

4.6.5. Consistency

The mean value for the consistency scores of the samples by the panelists varies from 3.60-3.96. ANOVA has shown that the model for predicting consistency is significant (p < 0.05) difference at quadratic model and interaction between oat and soybean. The coefficient of determination indicates that models, developed to predict the consistency explained 84.47% of the variations (Appendix table 7) and the regression model for predicting consistency is presented as equation(Appendix table 8).

The minimum mean values of sensory score for consistency was recorded at higher proportion of soybean flour where as the maximum mean sensory score of consistency was recorded at high proportion of oat and linseed in formulation. The sensory acceptance of the gruel for consistency was increased with increasing proportion of oat and linseed where as increasing the proportion of soybean flour decreased the sensory acceptance for consistency of the as shown in gruel figure 21.



Figure 21: Contour plot of consistency (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel

Increasing of oat flour proportion in the blend increased the consistency score of the gruel; this may be due to starchy properties of oat and linseed that makes the gruel viscous.

The sensory score of the reference gruel is less as compared to extrusion cooked flour gruel; the probable reason may be the nature of the ingredients and processing methods. A very thick consistency would need increased effort to swallow, and therefore may limit the food intake in young children have not fully developed their ability in this aspect (King and Ashworth, 1987).

4.6.6. Overall acceptability

The sensory score of overall acceptability of the complementary gruel ranged from 3.61 to 4. The ANOVA has shown that the model for predicting overall acceptability is satisfactory. The coefficient of determination models, developed to predict the overall acceptability of the gruel explained 61.23% of the variations (Appendix table 7) and the regression model for predicting taste is presented as Equation (Appendix table 8).

The minimum overall acceptability was scored at high proportion of soybean, linseed and low proportion of oat flour in the blends (55%-19%-11%). The highest mean sensory acceptance score was recorded at the highest proportion of oat and lowest soybean flour in oat, soybean and linseed (65%-11%-9%) respectively. Figure 22 indicates that over all acceptability of the gruel increased with increasing proportion of oat where as decreased with increasing the proportion of soybean flour in the formulation.



Figure 22: Contour plot of overall acceptability (5 point hedonic scales) of the gruel

Even though the presence of soybean and linseed improved the nutritional quality of the gruel, at higher contents of these ingredients the overall acceptability of the gruel is lower. At high percentages of soybean the appearance and taste of the gruel was low, which may contribute to the lower preference of gruel at high proportion of soybean.

The result of current study is in line with, Tortoe *et al.* (2014) who suggested that higher proportions of the legume flour in the blend reduced general preference for the porridge. The observation is likely to have resulted from a combination of reasons such as coarseness and beany flavor introduced by the flour from legumes, which affected taste of the porridge.

Singh *et al.* (1996); also suggested that the decrease in over all acceptability scores of the chapattis prepared from blended wheat flour with increasing the level of soybean flour incorporation may be attributed due to the typical undesirable taste soybean flour had.

The overall acceptability score for gruel made from extrusion cooked flour is greater than the reference gruel made from barely and '*Mittin*' flour. This might be because of ingredient contents (used) in extruded composite flour that gives better preference for overall acceptability score of the gruel.

4.7. Optimal Mixture

4.7.1. Optimization based on nutritional composition

The main objective of using mixture design is to determine optimum formulation that can fulfill minimum nutritional requirements of child under two years. The regions of interest for nutritional composition of; protein, fat, carbohydrate, calories, calcium, Iron, and zinc varied between 19.0-20.6%, 8-9.9%, 61.09-63.7%, 394.98-408.2kcal/100g, 110-124.4mg/100g 7.0-7.8mg/100g and 2.97-3.0 mg/100g respectively. The ranges were selected as higher values of each response are within the range of recommended nutrient requirements for children under age of two years.

The white region in figures 23 indicates that any point within this region represents an optimum combination of oat, soybean and linseed, with desirable nutritional composition. The overall optimum nutritional composition were found in the blend of 58.3%, 19.1% and 7.6% oat, soybean and linseed respectively from range of oat 55-65%, soybean11-23% and linseed 6-11%.



Figure 23: Overlaid contour plots of instant complementary flour nutrional composition

4.7.2. Optimization based on sensory evaluation

To obtain the optimum region for appearance, aroma, taste, mouth feel, consistency and overall acceptability for gruel the ingredients were mixed at different ratio. The optimum formulation should maximize consumer acceptance, it is possible to develop a product with all sensory qualities that would satisfy consumer's acceptability of the product. Sensory optimization was done based on each sensory attributes as received hedonic rating >3.36 from 5 point hedonic scale.

The white region in Figure 24 represents an optimum combination of oat, soybean and linseed, with desirable sensory acceptability. The optimum point prediction shows that 62.8% oat, 14% soybean and 8.2% linseed. The optimal point for appearance, aroma, taste, mouth feel, consistency and overall acceptability were found to be ranged from 3.38-372, 3.60-3.77, 3.6-3.8, 3.54-3.8, 3.67-3.96 and 3.75-4.0 respectively. The ranges were selected as higher score indicates better preference of the gruel and with suitable chemical composition also.



Figure 24: Overlaid contour plots of instant complementary flour gruel sensory attributes

4.7.3. Overall optimal mixture compositions

The study focused on determining the optimal blend ratio of individual food source (ingredients) that are suited to produce instant infant flour with desirable nutrient compositions and acceptable sensory attributes. In order to determine the optimum formulation, the regions of acceptability in the contour plot for protein, carbohydrate, fat, calorie, iron, calcium, zinc, beta carotene and overall sensory attribute were superimposed.

Superimposition of contour plot regions of interest protein (19.0-20.6%), fat (8-9.9%), carbohydrate (60.92-63.7%), energy (394.98-408.2kcal/100gm), calcium (110-124.4mg/100gm) iron (7-7.8mg/100g), zinc (2.96-3.0 mg/100g), beta carotene (1600-1900.3 μ g/100gm) and overall acceptance received hedonic ratings (3.75- 4.0) resulted in optimum regions for extruded composite flour. The white region in Figure 25 indicates that any point within this region represents an optimum combination of oat, soybean and linseed, with optimal nutritional composition and sensory attributes. The overall optimum blends were found at 58.4, 18.4 and 8.2 oat, soybean and linseed respectively in a range of 55-65% oat, 11-23% soybean and 6-11% linseed.



Figure 25: Overlaid contour plots of instant complementary flour nutritional composition and gruel sensory attributes'

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

5.1. Summary

The current study was aimed at developing new instant infant flour, which is enriched with protein, fat, iron, zinc and vitamin A (β -carotene) to be used as a complementary food for under two years old children. The product was developed from mixture of oat (55%-65%), soybean (11%-23%) linseed (6%-11%) and 15% premix (sugar, salt fenugreek and moringa).

The result of proximate composition in this study indicated that, the protein, fat and energy content were significantly improved with increasing the proportion of soybean and linseed flour in the composite flour. Whereas, moisture, fiber and carbohydrate contents of the extruded composite flour were increased with increasing proportion of oat flour in the blend. Moreover, besides the presence of moringa as a source of mineral and vitamin in the composite flour, calcium, iron, and zinc content of the product increased significantly with the increasing proportion of soybean and linseed flour. Anti- nutritional contents (phytate and tannin concentration) in the extruded composite flour were also increased as the proportion of soybean flour increased. The β -carotene content was decreased with increasing proportion of soybean flour.

In other way, the functional properties of the extruded composite flour showed significant (p < 0.05) difference. Thus, the water absorption capacity of the extruded composite flour was increased with increasing proportion of soybean and linseed flour in the formulation. While, bulk density was decreased with increasing proportion of soybean and increased with increasing proportion of oat in the blend.

The sensory acceptance of the gruel show little decrement with increasing proportion of soybean flour. whereas, the gruel prepared from highest oat content in the blend scored better value in terms of overall acceptability but, not nutritionally.

Finally, the optimization study indicated that, the optimal blend of composite flour containing 58.4% oat, 18.4% soybean and 8.4% linseed was selected as superior in terms of chemical composition (protein 19.0-20.6%, fat 8-9.9%, carbohydrate 60.92-63.7%, energy 394.98-408.2kcal/100g, calcium 110-124.4mg/100g, Iron 7-7.8mg/100g, zinc 2.96-3.0) and sensory qualities (3.75-4 overall acceptability).

5.2. Conclusion

This result revealed that extrusion cooked oat, soybean, linseed and premix (sugar salt fenugreek and moringa) blend can be used to produce nutritious and ready-to-use composite flour. The extruded composite flour have good potential to improving vitamin A (β -carotene), fat, zinc, iron, protein and energy rich complementary foods. The blends were extruded to provide pre-cooked foods that could be reconstituted at 75°C to a porridge or gruel, eliminating prolonged cooking or degradation of heat labile nutrients. The use of these locally grown cereals, legumes and oilseed could make a great contribution to the fight against malnutrition in the study area.

The optimum mixture of oat, soybean and linseed flour with added premix (sugar, salt, moringa and fenugreek) induced significant improvement in the composite flour's nutritional quality and gruel's sensory attributes.

Generally, the study successfully produced a nutritious and energy-dense complementary food with acceptable sensory attributes from locally available raw materials. The product developed can be used as ready-to-use meal that needs minimum processing time. Consumption of these alternative food ingredients in a form of gruel can suppress nutrient deficiencies and can play a significant role in developing countries as a viable long-term foodbased strategy to control nutrient deficiencies.

6. FUTURE LINE OF WORK

The extruded composite instant flour developed has a good nutritional content and sensory acceptability and can fulfill nutrient requirement of children under the age of two years for fat, protein carbohydrate, energy, and Fe, Zn and beta carotene. Therefore, the concerned bodies should give attention for the developed instant composite flour to make it available to rural area of our country, especially, southwest parts of Ethiopia, where malnutrition is the main problem of infants and children.

Developing instant infant flour at small scale creates great chance both in creating job opportunities and in reducing malnutrition. Therefore, all the concerned bodies should give attention to supporting small scale entrepreneurs in producing instant infant flour.

On the other hand, this study did not cover the digestibility and bioavailability of the macronutrients and amino acid of the developed product; therefore, it needs further investigation. In addition, starch characteristics as well as the shelf life of extruded composite flour needs further investigation.

Finally, the composite flour developed in this study did not meet all the recommended micronutrients especially calcium requirements for infants and children under two years. Therefore, fortification with appropriate micronutrients or micronutrient-dense foodstuffs will be necessary.

7. REFERENCES

Abraham I. Sengev, Joseph O. Abu, Dick I. and Gernah, 2013. Effect of *Moringa oleifera* Leaf Powder Supplementation on Some Quality Characteristics of Wheat Bread *Food and Nutrition Sciences*, **4**: 270-275

Abuye, C., Urga, K., Knapp, H., Selmar, D., Omwega, A. M. and Imungi, J. K., 2003. A compositional study of Moringa stenopetala leaves, *East African Medical Journal*, **80**:127-135

Adebayo-Oyetoro, A.O., Olatidoye, O.P., Ogundipe, O.O., Balogun O.I. and Faboya A.O., 2011. Quality evaluation of complementary food reduced from blend of Ofada rice (Oryza-sativa) and Bambara groundnut (Voandzeia subterranean L). *Electronic Journal of Environmental, Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **10**(6): 2322-2330

Adebowale, K.O., Olu-Owolabi, B.I., kehinde Olawumi, E. and Lawal, O.S., 2005. Functional properties of native, physically and chemically modified breadfruit (Artocarpus artilis) starch. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **21**(3): 343-351

Agostoni, C., Marangoni, F., Stival, G., Gatelli, I., Pinto, F., Rise, P., Giovannini, M., Galli, C., Riva, E., 2008. Whole blood fatty acid composition differs in term vs. mildly preterm infants: small versus matched appropriate for gestational age. *Pediatric research*, **64**: 298-302

Ahokas, H, Heikkila E, and Alho M., 2005. Variation in the ratio of oat (Avena) protein fractions of interest in celiac grain diets. *Genetic Resource and Crop Evolution*, **52**: 813-819.

Aleem Zaker MD., Genitha TR. and Syed Imran Hashmi, 2012. Effects of Defatted Soy Flour Incorporation on Physical, Sensorial and Nutritional Properties of Biscuits. *Journal of Food Processing Technology*, **3**:4

Alonso R, Rubio LA, Muzquiz M, Marzo F., 2001. The effect of extrusion cooking on mineral bioavailability in pea and kidney bean seed meals. *Journals of Animal Feed Science Technology*, **94(1-2)**:1-13.

Amarjeet K, Sidhu JS, Singh B., 1995. Effect of enzyme active Soya flour and sodium streroyl –2-lactylate additions on white bread making properties. *Journal of Chemistry and Microbiology*, **17** (**31**): 105-109.

Angioloni, A. and Collar, C., 2012. Suitability of oat, millet and sorghum in bread making. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, **6**(6): 1486-1493.

Anjum, F. M., I. Ahmad, M. S. Butt, M. A. Sheikh, and I. Pasha, 2005. Amino acid composition of spring wheat's and losses of lysine during chapatti baking. *Journal of Food Component of Analysis*, **18**:523-532

Anuonye JC, Onuh JO, Egwim E, Adeyemo SO., 2010. Nutrient and antinutrient composition of extruded acha/Soybean blends. *Journal of Food Process Preservation*, **34**(2):680-91.

Asare, E.K., Sefa-Dedeh, S., Afoakwa, E.O., Sakyi-Dawson, E. And Budu, A.S., 2012. Response surface methodology for studying the effects of feed moisture and ingredient variations on the chemical composition and appearance of extruded sorghum-groundnut-cowpea blends. *International Journal of Food Engineering*, **6**: 1-23.

Asma, MA., Fadil, EBE. and Tinay, AHE., 2006. Development of complementary food from sorghum supplemented with legumes and oil seeds. *Journal of Food Nutrition*, **27**(1): 26-34.

Association of Official Analytical Chemists, 2000. Official Methods of Analysis. Vol. 2, 17th Edn., AOAC International. Washington, DC, USA. Official Methods 923.03, 923.05, 4.5.01, 925.09, 962.09 and 979.09.

Association of Official Analytical Chemists, 2005. "Official Methods of Analysis," 17th Edition, Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Arlington,

Athar N, Hardacre A, Taylor G, Clark S, Harding R, McLaughlin J., 2006. Vitamin retention in extruded food products. *Journal of Food Process Preservation*, **19**(**4**): 379-83.

Attoumbré, J., Laoualy, A.B.M., Bienaimé, C., Dubois, F. and Baltora-Rosset, S., 2011. Investigation of lignan accumulation in developing Linum usitatissimum seeds by immunolocalization and HPLC. *Phytochemistry Letters*, **4**(2): 194-198

Azizah AH and Zainon H. 1997. Effect of processing on dietary fiber contents of selected legumes and cereals. *Malaysian Journal of Nutrition*, **3**: 131-136

Babajide, J. M., Idowu, M. A. and Lasekan, O. O., 2003. Effect of soy and wheat variation on the functional and sensory properties of cassava-soy-wheat noodles. *Nigerian Food Journal*, **21**: 23-28.

Babajide, J. M., Idowu, M. A. and Lasekan, O. O., 2003. Effect of soy and wheat variation on the functional and sensory properties of cassava-soy-wheat noodles. *Nigerian Food Journal*, **21**: 23-28.

Badau, M.H., Jideani, I. A. and Nkama, I., 2006. Production, acceptability and microbiological evaluation of complementary food formulations. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics*, **52**: 166-172

Bailey, LN, Hauck BW, Sevatson ES, Singer RE., 1995. Ready-to-eat breakfast cereal production, in (A. Turner, Ed.), Food Technology International Europe, Sterling Publications International, London, pp. 127-32

Bair, C.W. and Snyder, H.E., 1980. Electron microscopy of soybean lipid bodies. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, **57**(9):279-282.

Baloch, M. S. and M., Zubair, 2010. Effect of nipping on growth and yield of chickpea. *Journal of Animal and Plant Science*, **20**(**3**): 208-210

Bangoura, M. L. and Zhou, H., 2007. Formulation and Nutritional Quality of Extruded complementary food. *African Journal of Food Science*, **5**(8): 466 - 472

Baraga, C. F., Lauren, A. C., and Mendoza, M. T., 1985. Polyphones in mug bean (Vegan radiate L., Wilczek): determination and removal. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, **33**: 1006-1009.

Barbet, S., 2012. Convenience Breaded Poultry Meat Products – New Developments. Trends in *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **26**: 14-20

Bolarinwa IF, Olaniyan SA, Adebayo LO, Ademola AA., 2015. Malted Sorghum-Soy Composite Flour: Preparation, Chemical and Physico- Chemical Properties. *Journal of Food Processing & Technology*, **6**: 467-478

Borrelli, R. C., Mennella, C, Barba, F., Russo, M., Russo, G.L., Krome K., Erbersdobler, H.F., Faist, V. and Fogliano, V., 2003. Characterization of colored compounds obtained by enzymatic extraction of bakery products. *Journal of Food Chemical Toxicology*, **41**(10): 1367–1374

Bott, L. and Chambers, E., 2006. Sensory characteristics of combinations of chemicals potentially associated with beany aroma in foods. *Journal of sensory studies*, **21**:308-321

Bowman, A. B. and Russell, M. R., 2001. Present knowledge in Nutrition. International life science institute, Washington DC. 805pp.

Bukhari, SB., Bhanger, MI. and Shahabuddin, M., 2008. Antioxidant activity of extracts from fenugreek seeds. *Pakistan Journal of Analytical and Environmental Chemistry*, **9**:78-83

Butt, M. S., Nadeem, M. T., Khan, M. K I. and Shabir R., 2008. Oat unique among the cereals. *European Journal of Nutrition*, **47**: 68-79

Camire, ME., Dougherty, MP. and Briggs JL., 2005. Antioxidant-rich foods retard lipid oxidation in extruded corn. *Cereal Chemistry*, **82(6)**:666-70.

Carine Semasaka, Xiangzhen Kong and Yufei Hua, 2010. Optimization of extrusion on blend flour composed of corn, millet and soybean. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, **9(3)**: 291-297.

Carvalho, CWP. and Micthelle, JR., 2000. Effect of sugar on the extrusion of maize grits and wheat flour. *International journal of food science & technology*, **35**: 569-576

Central Statistical Agency and Macro, 2006. Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2005. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia and Calverton, Maryland, USA

Central Statistical Agency, 2014. Ethiopia Mini Demographic and Health Survey 2014. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.

Chessari CJ. and Sellahewa JN., 2001. Effective process control, in Extrusion Cooking - Technologies and Applications edited by Guy R, Wood head Publishing, Cambridge, 83-107.

Chetana, R., Sudha, M. L., Begum, K. and Ramasarma, P. R., 2010. Nutritional characteristics of linseed and its application in muffin making. *Journal of Texture Studies*, **41**(4): 563-578.

Chung, M. W., Lei, B., Li-Chan, E., 2005. Isolation and structural characterization of the major protein fraction from NorMan flaxseed (Linumusitatissimum L.). *Journal of Food Chem*istry, **90**: 271-279.

Colonna, P., Doublier, J. L., Melcion, J. P., De Montredon, F. and Mercier, C., 2004. Extrusion cooking and drum-drying of wheat starch: Physical and macromolecular modifications. *Cereal Chemistry*, **61**:538-43.

Correia Isabel, Alexandra Nunes, Barros, Ivonne Delgadillo, 2010. Comparison of the effects induced by different processing methods on sorghum proteins. *Journal of Cereal Science*, **51**: 146-151

Daelmans, B. and Saadeh, R., 2003. Global initiatives to improve complementary feeding. In SCN Newsletter: Meeting the challenge to improve complementary feeding. United Nations System Standing Committee on Nutrition. Moreira, A.D. Ed. Lavenhem Press, UK, pp.10-17.

Dandago, M.A. and Igwe, C.E., 2006. Production and Sensory Evaluation of Soya Yoghurt. *International Journal of Food and Agricultural Research*, **3** (1): 36-39.

Daun, J.K., Barthet, V.J., Chornick, T.L., Duguid, S., Thompson, L.U. and Cunnane, S.C., 2003. Structure, composition, and variety development of flaxseed. *Flaxseed in human nutrition*, (Ed. 2), pp.1-40.

Delwiche, Jeannine, 2004. The impact of perceptual interactions on perceived flavor. Food Quality and preference, **15**: 137-146.

Dewey, KG. and Brown, KH., 2003. Update on technical issues concerning complementary feeding of young children in developing countries and implications for intervention programs. Food Nutrition Bulletin, **24**: 5 - 28.

Dolson, L., 2010. Flax Seed: The Low Carbohydrate Whole Grain Nutrition, Health BenefitsofFlaxSeed.RetrievedfromAbout.com:http://lowcarbdiets.about.com/od/whattoeat/a/flaxinfo.htm

Duss, R. and Nyberg L., 2004. Oat soluble fibres (β -glucans) as a source for healthy snack and breakfast foods. *Cereal Foods World*, **49(6)**: 320–325.

Eddy, N. O. Udofia, P. G. and Eyo, D., 2007. Sensory evaluation of wheat/cassava composite bread and effect of label information on acceptance and preference. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, **6** (20): 2415-2418

Egounlety and Aworh, 2003. Effect of soaking, dehulling, cooking and fermentation with Rhizopus oligosporus on the oligosaccharides, trypsin inhibitor, phytic acid and tannins of soybean (Glycine max Merr.), cowpea (Vegan unguiculata L. Walp) and groundbean (Macrotyloma geocarpa Harms). *Journal of Food Engineering*, **56**: 249-254.

Eka, B.E., Abbey, B.W. and Akaninwor, J.O., 2010. Nutritional Evaluation of Some Traditional weaning Foods from Akwa Ibom State, Nigeria. *Nigerian Journal of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, **25**: 65-72.

El-Hady EAA, Habiba RA., 2003. Effect of soaking and extrusion conditions on antinutrients and protein digestibility of legume seeds. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **36(3)**: 285-93.

Elnasri N.A., 2006. Physicochemical properties of fenugreek (Trigonella Foneum graecium) seed protein. M.Sc. Thesis, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Khartoum, Sudan.

Endeshaw, H., 2003. Promoting the miracle tree of hope, Ethiopian Herald, 19 July 2003

Falola, A.O, Olatidoye, O.P, Balogun, I.O, and Opeifa, A.O., 2011. Quality Characteristics of Cookies Produced from Composite Flours of Cassava and Cucurbita Mixita seed. *Journal of Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences*, **3**: 1-12

Famurewa, J.A.V. and Raji, A.O., 2011. Effect of drying methods on the physico-chemical properties of soy flour. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, Vol. 10 No. 25, pp. 5015-5019.

Fazli, F.R.Y. and Hardman, R., 1968. The spice fenugreek (Trigonella foenum-graecum L.). Its commercial varieties of seed as a source of diosgenin. Tropical Science, **10**: 66-78.

Fellows, PJ., 2009. Food Processing Technology - Principles and Practice (3rd Edition) Wood head Publishing 457-75

Filli KB. and Nkama, I., 2007. Hydration properties of extruded fura from millet and legumes. A food amongst complementary feeds in rural Malawi. *European Journal of Nutrition*, **55**: 841-9

Filli, K. B. Nkama, I., Jideani, V. A. and Abubakar, U. M., 2010. Influence of extrusion variables on some functional properties of extruded millet-soybean for the manufacture of 'fura': A Nigerian traditional food. *African Journal of Food Science*, **4** (6): 342-352.

Folake O. Samuel, Bolanle O. Otegbayo and Titilope Alalade. 2012. Nutrient and Anti-Nutrient Content of Soy-Enriched Tapioca. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Sciences*, **3**: 784-789

Food and Agriculture Organization, 2004. Human energy requirements: Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultations. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization.

Food and Agriculture Organization, 2014. The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2014. Strengthening the enabling environment for food security and nutrition." Rome: FAO (http://www.fao.org/publications/sofi/2014/en/)

Food and Agriculture Organization/ World Health Organization, 2013. Codex Alimentarious: Foods for Special Dietary Uses (Including Foods for Infants and Children). Joint FAO/WHO Food Standards Program, Codex Alimentarious Commission Rome, Italy 66 pp
Food and Nutrition Board, 2005. Dietary Reference Intake for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein and Amino Acids. Institute of Medicine of the National Academies press, Washington DC.

Fu, B. X., 2008. Asian noodles: History, classification, raw materials, and processing. *Food Research International*, **41(9)**:888-902.

Fugile, L. J., 1999. The Miracle Tree: Moringa oleifera: Natural Nutrition for the Tropics. Church World Service, Dakar. 68 pp.; revised and published as The Miracle Tree: The Multiple Attributes of Moringa, 172 pp.

Fuglie, L.J., 2001. Combating malnutrition with Moringa. *The miracle tree: the multiple attributes of Moringa*, p.117.

Gall, A. and Zerihun S., 2009. Ethiopian Traditional and Herbal Medications and their Interactions with Conventional Drugs. Ethno Med. University of Washington. Retrieved on October 13, 2011.

Gambuś, H., Gibiński, M., Pastuszka, D., Mickowska, B., Ziobro, R. and Witkowicz, R., 2011. The application of residual oats flour in bread production in order to improve its quality and biological value of protein. *Acta Sci. Pol., Technol. Aliment*, **10**(3): 313-325.

Ganorkar, P. M. and Jain, R. K., 2014. Effect of flaxseed incorporation on physical, sensorial, textural and chemical attributes of cookies. *International Food Research Journal*, **21(4)**: 1515-1521.

Gebretsadikan, Tirhas M., Geremew Bultosa, Sirawdink Fikreyesus Forsido, and Tessema Astatkie, 2015. Nutritional quality and acceptability of sweet potato–soybean–moringa composite porridge. *Nutrition & Food Science*, 45(6): 845-858.

Ghasemzadeh, R. and Ghavidel, R. A., 2011. Processing and Assessment of Quality Characteristic of Cereals-legumes Composite weaning foods. International conference on Bioscience, Biochemistry and Bioinformatics, Singapore (Vol. 5). IACSIT Press, Singapore.

Golden, M., 2009. Proposed nutrient requirements of moderately malnourished populations of children. *Food nutrition Bull.* **30**: 237-342

Government of the Federal Democratic of Ethiopia, 2008. Program Implementation Manual of National Nutrition Program (NNP) – I: June 2008 – June 2013. Federal Ministry of Health, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. p. 128.

Grela ER, Jensen SK, Jakobsen K., 1999. Fatty acid composition and content of tocopherols and carotenoids in raw and extruded grass pea (Lathyrus sativus L). *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **79**(15):2075-8.

Guy R. 2004. Raw materials in extrusion cooking. In: Extrusion cooking technologies and applications, Wood head publishing Ltd, Cambridge, UK: 5-28.

Guy R., 2001a. Extrusion cooking technologies and applications, Wood head publishing Ltd, Cambridge, UK: 1-2.

Guy R., 2001b. Snack foods. In: Extrusion cooking technologies and applications, Wood head publishing Ltd, Cambridge, UK: 161-81.

Harper, J.M., 1981. Extrusion of food vol.1.CRC pressint. Boca. Ratom, FL, p127.128.

Hemlata Pandey and Pratima Awasthi, 2015. Effect of processing techniques on nutritional composition and antioxidant activity of fenugreek (Trigonella foenum-graecum) seed flour. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **52**(2):1054–1060

Hongzhi Y, Zhihuai, and Hequn T., 2004. Determination and removal methods of cyanogenic glucoside in flaxseed ASAE/CSAE meeting presentation: 04066

Hooda S. and Jood S., 2003. Effect of soaking and germination on nutrient and anti-nutrient contents of fenugreek (Trigonella foenum graecum). *Journal of Food Bio chemistry*, **27**:165–176

Hotz, C., and Gibson, R. S., 2001. Complementary feeding practices and dietary intakes from complementary foods amongst complementary food in rural Malawi. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **55**: 841-9.

Igyor, MA., Yusufu, PA. and Sengev IA., 2011. Evaluation of physicochemical, functional and sensory properties of fermented fura powder supplemented with soy. *Nigerian Food Journal*, **28**: 113-121.

Ijarotimi, O.S. and Keshinro, O.O., 2012. Formulation and Nutritional Quality of Infant Formula Produced from Germinated Popcorn, Bambara Groundnut and African Locust Bean Flour. *Journal of Microbiology, Biotechnology and Food Sciences*, **1**: 1358-1388.

Ijarotimi, O.S., 2008. Nutritional composition, microbial status, functional and sensory properties of infant diets formulated from cooking banana fruits (Musa spp, ABB genome) and fermented Bambara groundnut (Vegan subterranean L. Verdc) seeds. *Journal of Nutrition and Food Science*, **38**: 325-340

Ikpeme-Emmanuel, C. A., Ekpeyoung, I. O. and Igile, G. O., 2012. Chemical and Protein Quality of Soybean (Glycine max) and Tigernut (Cyperus esculentus) Based weaning Food. *Journal of Food Research*, **1**(2): 1-9.

Ikujenlola A.V. and Fashakin J.B., 2005. The Physico-chemical properties of a complementary diet from vegetable proteins. *Journal of Food, Agriculture & Environment*, **3** (3): 23-26.

Induja Awasthi, Pornoor Siraj, Maitrayee Tripathi and Vandana Tripathi, 2012. Development of soy fortified high protein and high calorie supplementation of biscuits. *Indian Journal of science research*, **3(1)**: 51-58.

Inyang, CU. and Zakari, UM., 2008. Effect of germination and fermentation of pearl millet on proximate, chemical and sensory properties of instant "fura"- A Nigerian cereal food. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, **7**(1): 9-12

Isingoma, B.E., Samuel, M., Edward, K. and Maina, G., 2015. Improving the nutritional value of traditional finger millet porridges for children aged 7-24 months in Bujenje County of Western Uganda. *African Journal of Food Science*, **9(8)**:426-436.

Iwe and Ngoddy, 2000. Effect of extrusion on trypsin inhibitor contents of soy–sweet potato mixtures. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, **24**: 453-463.

Iwe, M. O. and Ngoddy, P. O., 1998. Proximate composition and some functional properties of extrusion cooked soybean and sweet potato blends. *Journal of Plant Food for Human Nutrition*, **53**: 121-32

Iwe, M.O., 2007. Current trends in sensory evaluation of foods. *Rejoin Communication Services, Uwani Enugu, Nigeria*.

Jacobs, M. and Rubery, PH., 1988. Naturally occurring auxin transport regulators. *Science*, **241**: 246-349

Jan, M., Sattar, A., Mehmood F. and Y., Ali, 2000. Chemical and technological evaluation of fortified wheat bread (chapatti) with oilseed flours. *Sarhad Journal of Agriculture*, **16(1)**: 85-88.

Joel Ndife, L. O., Abdulraheem and Zakari, U. M., 2011. Evaluation of the nutritional and sensory quality of functional breads produced from whole wheat and soybean flour blends. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **2**: 6-13

Kaur S., Sharma S., Singh, B. and Dar BN., 2013. Effect of extrusion variables (temperature, moisture) on the antinutrient components of cereal barns. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 1-7.

Kavitha, S. and Parimalavalli, R., 2014. Development and evaluation of extruded weaning foods. *European Academic Research*, **4**:5197-5210.

Khattab, R. Y. and S. D. Arntfield, 2009. Nutritional quality of legume seeds as affected by some physical treatments Antinutritional factors. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **42**:1113-1118.

Khosla, P, Gupta DD, Nagpal RK., 1995. Effect of Fenugreek on serum lipids in normal and diabetic rats. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, **27**:89–93

Kikafunda, J.K., Abenakyo, L. and Lukwago F.B., 2006. Nutritional and sensory properties of high energy/nutrient dense composite flour porridges from germinated maize and roasted beans for child-weaning in developing countries: a case for Uganda. *Journal Ecology and Food Nutrition*, **45**:279-294.

Kim F Michaelsen, Camilla Hoppe, Nanna Roos, Pernille Kæstel, Maria Stougaard, Lotte Lauritzen, Tsinuel Girma, Henrik Friis, 2008. Choice of Foods and Ingredients for Moderately Malnourished Children 6 months to 5 years old. Paper presented at the WHO, UNICEF, WFP and UNHCR Consultation on the Dietary Management of Moderate Malnutrition in Under-5 Children. 2- 128.

King J, Ashworth A., 1987. Changes in infant feeding practices in Nigeria, an historical review occasional paper No. 9 London: centre for Human Nutrition, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine

Kitabatake, N.and Doi E., 1992. Denaturation and texturization of food protein by extrusion cooking. In: Kokini JL, Ho CT, Karwe MV, Marcel Dekker. *Food extrusion: science and technology*, 361-71.

Klava, D., Karklina, D., Rakcejeva, T. and Zolnere, I., 2007. Application of Oat Products in Wheat Bread Technology. *Journal of Chemical and Technology*, **41**(2): 19-23.

Kulkarni, K. D., Kulkarni, D. N., and Ingle, U. M., 1990. Sorghum malt-based weaning food formulation: preparation, functional properties and nutritive value. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin journal*, **13(4)**: 322-328.

Kure O.A., Bahago E.J. and Daniel E.A., 1998. Studies on the proximate composition and effect of flour particle size of acceptability of biscuits produced from blends of soybeans and plantain flours. *Namida Tech. Scope J.*, **3**(2): 17-22

Lalude, L.O. and Fashakin, J.B., 2006. Development and Nutritional Assessment of weaning Food from Sorghum and Oil Seeds. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, **5**: 257-260.

Latta, M., and Eskin, M., 1980. A simple and rapid colorimetric method for phytate determination. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **28**: 1313-1315

Leenstra, T., Petersen, L.T., Kariuki, S.K., Oloo, A.J., Kager, P.A. and Ter Kuile, F.O., 2005. Prevalence and severity of malnutrition and age at menarche; cross-sectional studies in adolescent schoolgirls in western Kenya. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, **59**(1):41-48.

Liener, I.E. 2000. Non-Nutritive Factors and Bioactive Compounds in Soy -Soy in Animal Nutrition (Ed. J.K. Drackley), Federation of Animal Science Societies, Savoy, IL, U.S.A.

Lombor, TT., Umoh, EJ. and Olakumi, E., 2009. Proximate Composition and Organoleptic Properties of Complementary Food Formulated from Millet (Pennisetum psychostachynum), Soybeans (Glycine max) and Crayfish (Euastaeus spp). *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, **8** (10): 1676-1679.

Lorri, W. and Svanberg, U., 1993. Lactic fermented gruels with improved in vitro protein digestibility. *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition*, **44**: 29-36

Lutter, C. K. and Rivera, J., 2003. Nutritional status of infants and young children and characteristics of their diets. *Journal of Nutrition*, **133**: 2941-2949

Madhusudhan, B., 2009. Potential benefits of flaxseed in health and disease-A perspective. *Agricultural Conspectus Scientific (ACS)*, **74(2)**: 67-72.

Mahasukhnothachat, K., Sopade, P. A. and Gidley, M. J., 2010. Kinetics of Starch Digestion and Functional Properties of Twin-screw Extruded Sorghum. *Journal of Cereal Science*, **51**: 392-401

Makinde, F. M. and Ladipo, A. T., 2012. Physico-Chemical and microbial quality of sorghum-based complementary food enriched with soybean (Glycine max) and sesame (Sesamum indicum). *Journal of food Technology*, **10**(2):46-49.

Makkar, H.P.S. and Becker, K., 1996. Effect of pH, temperature, and time on inactivation of tannins and possible implications in detannification studies. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **44(5)**:1291-1295.

Mantri, R., Sonavane, S., and Arya, S., 2012. Flaxseed: Health Benefits and Applications. Food Marketing and Techn.pp. 24-28. Mhamunkar, S. (2009). Flax: Ancient Herb and Modern Medicine

Martin, H., Laswai, H. and Kulwa, K., 2010. Nutrient content and acceptability of soybean based complementary foods. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture,Nutrition and Development* **10**: 2040-2049.

Mathur, B., 2005. Moringa Book. Trees for Life International, St. Louis, USA.

Mathur, P. and Chaudhary, M., 2009. Effect of domestic processing on proximate composition of fenugreek seeds. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **46**: 255-258

Melesse, A., Bulang, M. and Kluth, H., 2009. Evaluating the nutritive values and in vitro degradability characteristics of leaves, seeds and seedpods from Moringa stenopetala. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, **89**: 281-297

Mensah, P and Tomkins, A., 2003. Household-level technologies to improve the availability and preparation of adequate and safe complementary foods. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, **24**(1):104-125.

Mensa-Wilmot, Y., Phillips, R.D., and Sefa-Dedeh, S., 2001. Acceptability of extrusion cooked cereal/legume weaning food supplements to Ghanaian mothers. *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition*, **52**: 83-90

Michaelsen, K. F., Floppe, C., Root, N., Kaestel, P., Stougard, M., Laurtzen, L., Molgard, C., Girma, T. and Friis, H., 2009. Choice of food ingredient for moderately malnourished children 6 month to 5 years of age. University of Copenhagen, *Denmark. Journal of Food and Nutrition*, **30** (**3**): 1 - 62.

Ministry of Finance and Economic Development, 2013. Development and Poverty in Ethiopia1995/96-2010/11.Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

Mirmoghtadie L, Kadivar M, Shahedi M. 2009. Effect of succinylation and deamidation on functional properties of oat protein isolate. *Food Chemistry journal*, **114**:127-131.

Mohamed, A, Biresaw G, Xu J, Hojilla-Evangelista MP. and Rayas-Duarte P., 2009. Oat protein Isolate: Thermal, rheological, surface and functional properties. *Food Research International*, **42**:107–114.

Morris, D.H., 2004. Flax: A health and nutrition primer. 3rd ed, p.11 Winnipeg: Flax Council of Canada. Downloaded from http://www.jitinc.com/flax/brochure 02.pdf verified on 4/6/12.

Mouquet, C., Salvignol, B., Van Hoan, N., Monvois, Tre`Che J. S., 2003. Ability of a very low-cost extruder to produce instant infant flours at a small scale in Vietnam food chemistry, **82**: 249–255

Muhimbula, H.S., A. Issa-Zacharia and Kinabo, J., 2011. Formulation and sensory evaluation of complementary foods from local, cheap and readily available cereals and legumes in Iringa, Tanzania. *African Journal of Food Science*, **5**(1):26 - 31

Natal, DIG., Dantas, MI., Vidigal, MCT., Ribeiro, SMR., Silva, RR. and Martino HSD., 2013. Physical and sensorial properties of potato bread fortified with whole soybean flour. *Rev Clinical Nutri*. **40**: 62-70.

Njongmeta, L.N.A., Ejoh, R.A., Mbofung, C.M. and Verhoef, M.J.R., 2003. weaning practices in the Adamawa Province of Cameroon. Second International Conference on Food-Based Approaches for a Healthy Nutrition.

Nkafamiya II, Osemeahon SA, Modibbo UU, Aminu A., 2010. Nutritional status of nonconventional leafy vegetables, Ficus asperifolia and Ficus sycomorus. *African Journal of Food Science*, **4**(**3**):104-108.

Nwabueze T. U., 2007. Effect of process variables on trypsin inhibitor activity (TIA), phytic acid and tannin content of extruded African breadfruit-corn-soy mixtures: A response surface analysis. *LWT -Food Science and Technology*, **40**:21-29.

Obizoba, I. C. and Ati, J. J., 1991. Effect of Soaking, sprouting, fermentation and cooking on nutrient composition and some anti-nutritional factors of sorghum seeds. *Journal of Plant Food for Human Nutrition*, **41**: 203 - 212

Odinakachukwu ICI, Nwosu N, Ngozi N, Ngozi I, Aloysius M., 2014. Development and nutritional evaluation of infant complementary food from maize (Zea mays), soybean (Glycine max) and Moringa oleifera leaves. *International Journal of Nutrition and Food Science*, **3**(**4**):290-299.

Ojinnaka. M.C., Ebinyasi. C.S., Ihemeje, A. and Okorie, S.U., 2013 Nutritional Evaluation of Complementary Food Gruels Formulated from Blends of Soybean Flour and Ginger Modified Cocoyam Starch. *Advance Journal of Food Science and Technology* **5**(10): 1325-1330.

Okoye, J.I., Nkwocha, A.C. and Ogbonnaya, A.E., 2008. Production, proximate composition and consumer acceptability of biscuits from wheat/soybean flour blends. *Continental Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **2:**.6-13.

Oladele, A. K. and Aina, J. O., 2007. Chemical composition and functional properties of flour from two varieties of tigernut (Cyperus esculentus). *African Journal of Biotechnology*. **6(21)**: 2473-2476

Olapade, A.A., Oluwole, O.B. and Aworh, O.C., 2012. Physico-chemical properties and consumer acceptance of instant cowpea (Vigna unguiculata) powder for complementary food. *African Journal of Food Science. Technology*, **3**:102-106.

Olorunfemi, O.B., Akinyosoye, F.A and Adetuyi, F.C., 2006. Microbial and nutritional evaluation of infant weaning food from mixture of fermented food substrates. *Research Journal of Biological Science*, **1**:20-23.

Olusola, A.T.E., 2006. The miracle tree: Moringa oleifera (drumstick). *Archive Vibrant Health with Nature. Keep Hope Alive Series. Unijos Consultancy Limited Press, Jos, Nigeria*, pp.120-136.

Omima E. Fadlallah, Abdullahi H. El Tinay and Elfadil E. Babiker, 2010. Biochemical Characteristics of Sorghum Flour Fermented and/or Supplemented with Chickpea Flour. *International Journal of Biological and Life Sciences*. **6**:21-25.

Omwamba, M. and Mahungu, S.M., 2014. Development of Protein-Rich Ready-to-Eat Extruded Snack from a Composite Blend of Rice, Sorghum and Soybean Flour. *Food and Nutrition Sciences*, **5**: 1309-1317

Onabanjo, O.O., C.O., Akinyami, and A., Agvonc, 2009. Characteristics of complementary foods produced from sorghum, sesame, carrot and crayfish. *Journal of Natural Science Engineering and Technology*, **8**(1):71-83

Onwulata, C.I., Konstance, R.P., Smith, P.W. and Holsinger, V.H., 2001. Incorporation of whey products in extruded corn, potato or rice snacks. *Food Research International Journal*. **34**: 679-68.

Oomah, B.D., 2001. Flaxseed as a functional food source. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agricultural*, **81** (9): 889-894.

Otitoju, G. T. O., 2009. Effect of dry and wet milling processing techniques on the nutrient composition and organoleptic attributes of fermented yellow maize (Zea mays). *African Journal of Food Sciences*, **3**: 113-116

PAG, 1972. Protein Advisory Group of the United Nations, PAG guideline no.8, protein-rich mixtures for use as weaning foods. New York: FAD/WHO/UNICEF

Pansawat, Jangchud, K., Jangchud, A., Wuttijumnong, P., Saalia, FK. Eitenmille, RR. and Philips, RD., 2008. Effects of extrusion conditions on secondary extrusion variables and physical properties of fish, rice – based snacks. LWT, **41**: 632-641.

Pathania, Shivani, Baljit Singh, Savita Sharma, Ana Sharma, and Smita Singla, 2013. Optimization of extrusion processing conditions for preparation of an instant grain base for use in weaning foods. *Optimization* 3(3): 1040-1049.

Pelembe, LAM., Erasmus, C. and Taylor JRN., 2002. Development of a Protein rich Composite Sorghum – Cowpea Instant Porridge by Extrusion Cooking Process. Lebensm – Wiss. U. – Technol., **35**: 120-127.

Pelto, G.H., Levitt, E. and Thairu, L., 2003. Improving Feeding Practices: Current Patterns, Common Constraints, and the Design of Interventions. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, **24**: 24-82.

Peltonen-Sainio P, Kontturi M, Rajala A., 2004. Impact dehulling oat grain to improve quality of on-farm produced feed. I. Hull ability and associated changes in nutritive value and energy content. *Agricultural and Food Science*, **13**: 18–28

Peterson D M, Wood D F., 1997. Composition and structure of high-oil oat. *Journal of Cereal Science*, **26**: 121-128

Petkov K, Biel W, Kowieska A, Jaskowska I., 2001. The composition and nutritive value of naked oat grain (Avena sativa var. nuda). *Journal of Animal and Feed Science*, **10** (2): 303-307

Popelka, J.C., Terryn, N. and Higgins, T.J.V., 2004. Gene technology for grain legumes: can it contribute to the food challenge in developing countries. *Plant Science*, **167**(**2**): 195-206.

Prescha, A., Zablocka-Slowinska, K., Hojka, A. and Grajeta, H., 2012. Instant food products as a source of silicon. *Food Chemistry* **135**: 1756-1761

Raju, J. and Bird, R.P., 2006. Alleviation of hepatic steatosis accompanied by modulation of plasma and liver TNF- α levels by Trigonella foenum graecum (fenugreek) seeds in Zucker obese (fa/fa) rats. *International journal of obesity*, **30**(8):1298-1307.

Rawat, A., G. Singh and Mital, B.K., 1994. Effect of soy fortification on quality characteristics of chapaties. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **31**(2): 114 - 6.

Ryu, G.H., 2004. Application of extrusion technology on food process. Paper in the seminar: Innovation of rice puffing on September 8-9, 2004 at the Emerald Hotel, Bangkok, Thailand

Rzedzicki, Z., Szpryngiel B. and Sobota A., 2000. Estimation of some chosen physical properties of extrudates obtained from corn semolina and oat bran mixtures. *International Agrophysics*, **14**:233–239

Saalia, FK. and Phillips RD., 2011. Degradation of aflatoxins by extrusion cooking: Effects on nutritional quality of extrudates. *Journal Food Science and Technology*, **44**(6):1496-501

Sadler G., Davis J. and Dezman D., 1990. Rapid extraction of lycopene and bcarotene from reconstituted tomato paste and pink grapefruit homogenates. *Journal of Food Science*, **55(5)**:1460-1461

Sai-Ut, S., Ketnawa, S., Chaiwut, P. and Rawdkuen, S., 2009. Biochemical and functional properties of proteins from red kidney, navy and adzuki beans. *Asian Journal of Food and Agro-Industry*, **2**(**4**):493-504.

Saskia, D.P. and Martin, W.B., 2008. Current and Potential Role of Specially for Mulated Foods and Food Supplements for Preventing Malnutrition among 6 - 23 Months Old and Treating Moderate Malnutrition among 6 - 59 Months Old Children. WHO, UNI-CEF, WFP and UNHCR Consultation on the Dietary Management of Moderate Malnutrition in Under-5 Children by the Health Sector, Rome

Sefa-Dedeh, S. K., Sakyi-Dawson, E. O., Afoakwa, E. O., Andoh-Kumi, K. and Tano-Debrah, K., 2001. Effect of Drying Method, Packaging Material and Storage on the Quality of Cowpea-Based weaning Foods. Paper Presented At The Annual Meeting of the Institute of Food Technologists, New Orleans, USA, and 25-28. 59pp.

Seifu, E., 2015. Actual and Potential Applications of Moringa stenopetala, Underutilized Indigenous Vegetable of Southern Ethiopia: A Review. International Journal of Agricultural and Food Research (IJAFR), 3(4).

Serna-Saldivar, S. and Rooney, L. W., 1995. Structure and chemistry of sorghum and millets. In: Dendy, D. A. V. (Ed), Sorghum and Millets: Chemistry and Technology. St. Paul, MN: *American Association of Cereal Chemistry*, pp. 69-124

Shimelis Admasu Emire, and Rakshit, S.K., 2005. Proximate composition and physicochemical properties of improved dry bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L.) varieties grown in Ethiopia. Food Engineering and Bioprocess Technology Program, Asian Institute of Technology, Bangkok, Thailand, **38(4)**: 331-338.

Siddharth, M., 2014. Determination of Physical Characteristics of Extruded Snack Food Prepared Using Little Millet (Panicum sumatranc) Based Composite Flours. *International Journal for Research in Applied Science and Engineering Technology*, **2**: 2321-9653

Singh Ranjana, Gurmukh Singh, and Chauhan G. S., 1996. Effect of incorporation of defatted soy flour on the quality of biscuits. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **33**: 355-357.

Singh, S., Gamlath, S. and Wakeling, L., 2007. Nutritional aspects of food extrusion: A review. *Internal Journal of Food Science Technology*, **42**(8):916-29

Slavin, J., Marquart, L. and Jacobs D., 2000. Consumption of whole grain foods and decreased risk of cancer: Proposed mechanisms. *Cereal Foods World*, **45**: 54-58

Souci, S. W., Fachmann, W. and Kraut, H., 2008. Food composition and nutrition tables. (7rd ed). Stuttgart: Medpharm Scientific Publishers

Srinivasan, K., 2005. Role of spices beyond food flavoring: Nutraceuticals with multiple health effects. *Food Reviews International*, **21**: 167–188. Technomic Publ Co Inc, Lancaster, pp 106–108

Swai, D.L., 2013. Nutritional and sensory quality of extruded peanuts-soybeans-cassava composite flakes for rehabilitating acutely malnourished children (Doctoral dissertation, Sokoine University of Agriculture).

Tajoddin, M.D., Shinde, M., Lalitha, J., 2011 .In vivo Reduction the Phytic Acid Content of MungBean (Phaseolus aureus L) Cultivars during Germination. American-Eurasian *Journal Agriculture and Environmental science*, **10** (1): 127-132.

Tamlurkar, V., 2006. Role of Instant Foods in the Catering Industry. For: Faculty Column in www.indianmba.com

Taylor, L., 2012. From food crisis to nutrition: challenges and possibilities in Ethiopia's nutrition sector. *Institute of Development Studies*.

Thathola A, Srivastava S., 2002. Physicochemical properties and nutritional traits of milletbased weaning food suitable for infants of the Kumaon Hills, Northern India. *Asia Pacific journal of clinical nutrition*, **11(1):** 28-32

Thierry NN, Tatsadjieu NL, Montet D, Mbofung CMF., 2013. Effect of Pure Culture fermentation on biochemical composition of Moringa oleifera Lam leaves powders. *Food Nutr. Sci.*, **4:** 851-859

Thurber MD. and Fahey JW., 2009. Adoption of Moringa oleifera to Combat Under-Nutrition Viewed through the Lens of the "Diffusion of Innovations" *Theory. Ecology of food and nutrition*, **48(3)**: 212 -225.

Tizazu, S., Urga, K., Abuye, C. and Retta, N., 2010. Improvement of energy and nutrient density of sorghum-based complementary foods using germination. African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development. Volume 10, No. 8.

Tortoe, C., Akonor, P. T., Nketia, S., Owusu, M., Glover-Amengor, M., Hagan, L., and Padi, A., 2014. Assessing the sensory characteristics and consumer preferences of yam-cowpeasoybean porridge in the Accra Metropolitan Area. *International Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences*, **3**(2): 127-132.

Tsegaye, N.K., 2015. Media epidemics: Viral structures in literature and new media (Master's Thesis). Retrieved from JUCAVM library Database. (Accession No. 2013420395)

Uauy, R., Mize, C. and Castillo-duran, C., 2000. Fat intake during childhood metabolicresponses and effects on growth. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, **72**:1354-1360.

Uhl, SR., 2000. Handbook of spices, seasonings and flavourings. Technomic Publ Co Inc, Lancaster, pp 106–108

UNICEF, 2009. Tracking Progress on Child and Maternal Nutrition. A survival and development priority: New York, NY 10017, USA.

UNICEF, 2014b. World Bank. Summary of key facts about the 2013 joint malnutrition estimates. (http://www.who.int/entity/nutgrowthdb/summary)

United State Department of Agriculture, 2005. USDA Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Release 18. Retrieved January 5, 2006 from the Nutrient Data Laboratory Home page: /http://www.ars.usda.gov/ba/bhnrc/ndlS

United States Department of Agriculture, 2007. Nutrient Database for Standard Reference Release 20, 2007. Downloaded from http://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/foodcomp/cgi-bin/list edit.pl on 22/12/2013.

Usman S, Nazir S, Ali S, Nasreen Z, Najim A., 2010. Determination of biochemical composition of Avena sativa (Oat) and to estimate the effect of high fiber diet on hypercholesteromic rats. *Bangladesh Research and Public Journal*, **4**: 312-319

Vaintraub and Lapteva, 1988. Colorimetric determination of phytate in unpurified extracts of seeds, and the products of their processing. *Analytical Biochemistry*, **175**:227-230

Vaisey-Genser, M. and Morris, D.H., 2003. Introduction: history of the cultivation and uses of laxseed. In Muir, A. D. and Westcott, N. D. (Eds). Flax: The genus Linum. p. 1-2. London: Taylor & Francis

Vasal, S.K., 2001. Quality protein maize development: An exciting experience. In A National Workshop on Alleviating Micronutrient Deficiency: Role of Horticulture and Home Gardens, MS Swaminatha Research Foundation. D29 Jun 2001

Vasanthan Thava, Jiang Gaosong, Judy Yeung, Jihong Li., 2002. Dietary fiber profile of barley flour as affected by extrusion cooking. *Journal of Food Chemistry*, **77**: 35–40

Veronica, A. O., Olusola, O. O., and Adebowale, E. A., 2006. Qualities of extruded puffed snacks from maize/soybean Food Bioprocess Technol mixture. *Journal of Food Processing Engineering*, **29**: 149–161

Wikramanayake, T. W., 1996. Food and Nutrition: Hector Kobbekaduwa Agrarian Research and Training Institute: Colombo 07, Sri Lanka

Wood PJ., 2007. Cereal β -glucans in diet and health. *Journal of Cereal Science*, **46**(**3**):230–238

World Health Organization, 1998. Complementary feeding of young children in developing countries. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland. pp. 167–170

World Health Organization, 2001. The five keys to safer food. Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization, 2008. The World Health Report: make every mother and child count. Geneva.

World Health Organization, 2009. World Health Statistics. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland. p. 149.

World Health Organization/ Food and Agriculture Organization, 2004. Human vitamin and mineral requirements. Report of a joint FAO/WHO consultation, Bangkok, Thailand. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and World Health Organization (WHO).

Zadernowski R, Nowak-Polakowska H, Wicklund T, Formal L., 1997. Changes in oat lipids affected by extrusion. *Nahrung Food* **41**(**4**): 224-7

8. APPENDICES

rependix duble 2. That yes of variance (Theory) for proximate composition and energy								
Source	MC	FiC	PC	FC	AC	CC	Energy	
Linear	0.11	0.00	0.01	0.26	0.01	0.01	0.69	
Quadratic	0.13	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.94	
X1*X2	0.86	0.67	0.06	0.27	0.01	0.01	0.85	
X1*X3	0.28	0.00	0.01	0.18	0.01	0.01	0.81	
X2*X3	0.10	0.00	0.04	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.75	
\mathbf{R}^2	96.11	98.86	98.64	98.39	94.50	97.86	98.14	

Appendix table 2: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for proximate composition and energy

X1=oat; X2=soybean; X3=linseed; MC=moisture content; FiC= crude fiber content; PC=protein content; FC=crude fat content; AC=ash content &CC= carbohydrate content R^2 =Coefficient of determination in %

Appendix table 3: Estimated regression coefficients of proximate compositions and energy contents of instant complementary flour

Response	Estimated regression coefficients equations
Moisture	0.61X1 + 113.9X2 - 32X3 + 180.3X1X2 + 34.7X1X3 + 116.4X2X3
Crude fiber	6.7X1 + 5.7X2 + 175.6X3 - 2.7X1X2 - 209.9X1X3 - 220.06X2X3
Protein	13.5X1 + 76.6X2 - 288.1X3 - 77.0X1X2 + 389.9X1X3 - 306.2X2X3
Crude fat	6.3X1 + 30.3X2 - 183.3X3 - 47.6X1X2 + 203.1X1X3 + 432.3X2X3
Crude Ash	5.3X1 + 31.4X2 - 184.3X3 - 63.7X1X2 + 198.9X1X3 + 311.1X2X3
Carbohydrate	66X1 + 36X2 + 801X3 + 75X1X2 - 84419X1X3 - 1173 X2X3
Energy	373.4X1 + 737.2X2 + 405.2X3 - 442.1X1X2 + 10.2X1X3 +
	419.6 X2X3

X1=oat; X2=soybean; X3=linseed

Appendix table 4: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for minerals and beta carotene contents

Source	Calcium	Iron	Zinc	β-carotene
Linear	0.059	0.001	0.341	0.000
Quadratic	0.642	0.763	0.935	0.000
X1*X2	0.945	0.643	0.754	0.098
X1*X3	0.314	0.866	0.700	0.000
X2*X3	0.276	0.568	0.590	0.000
\mathbb{R}^2	99.73	99.87	98.97	96.69

X1=oat; X2=soybean; X3=linseed, R²=Coefficient of determination in %

Response	Estimated regression coefficients equations
Calcium	58.3 X1 + 238.3 X2 - 1.357 X3 - 9.9 X1 X2 + 503.7 X2X3
Iron	4.48 X1 + 13.66 X2 + 10.49 X3 + 2.5 X1 X2 - 3.06 X1 X3 - 11.41 X2 X3
Zinc	2.8465 X1 + 3.675 X2 + 1.3579 X3 - 0.378 X1X2 + 1.5767 X1X3 +
	2.4192 X2X3
Beta-carotene	2088X1 + 1521X2 - 242993X3 - 18981X1X2 + 280258X1X3 +
	366032X2X3

Appendix table 5: Estimated regression coefficients of minerals and beta carotene contents of instant complementary flour

X1=oat; X2=soybean; X3=linseed

Appendix table 6: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for antinutrional factor and functional properties

Source	Phytate	Condensed tannin	Bulk Density	WAC
Linear	0.416	0.015	0.346	0.004
Quadratic	0.015	0.059	0.000	0.022
X1*X2	0.073	0.089	0.001	0.192
X1*X3	0.656	0.158	0.172	0.021
X2*X3	0.061	0.182	0.012	0.024
\mathbf{R}^2	89.86	92.87	97.97	96.75

X1=oat; X2=soybean; X3=linseed, R²=Coefficient of determination in%

Appendix table 7: Estimated regression coefficients of anti-nutritional factors and functional properties of instant complementary flour

Response	Estimated regression coefficients equations					
Phytate	$362X_1 + 921X_2 - 2402X_3 - 1997X_2X_3 + 1493X_1X_3 + 7821X_2X_3$					
Tannin	$43X_1 + 508X_2 + 1671X_3 - 745X_2X_3 - 2009X_1X_3 - 2054X_2X_3$					
Bulk density	$1.4783X_1 + 1.889X_2 + 1.514X_3 - 3.514X_1X_2 - 4.054X_1X_3 +$					
	7.972X ₂ X ₃					
WAC	$1.4783X_1 + 1.889X_2 + 1.514X_3 - 3.514X_1X_2 - 4.054X_1X_3 +$					
	7.972 X ₂ X ₃					

X1=oat; X2=soybean; X3=linseed

Source	Appearance	Aroma	Taste	Mouth	consistency	Overall
				feel		acceptability
Linear	0.296	0.009	0.015	0.781	0.47	0.062
Quadratic	0.092	0.006	0.029	0.242	0.031	0.096
X1*X2	0.630	0.008	0.02	0.713	0.043	0.075
X1*X3	0.895	0.036	0.01	0.332	0.917	0.040
X2*X3	0.342	0.401	0.01	0.869	0.714	0.059
R ²	82.90	81.89	82.60	82.07	84.47	61.23

Appendix table 8: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) p-values for sensory acceptability value of the gruel

X1=oat; X2=soybean; X3=linseed, R²=Coefficient of determination in%

Appendix table 9: Estimated regression coefficients of sensory acceptability of instant complementary gruel

	Estimated regression coefficients equations
Response	
Appearance	$5.02X_1 - 10X_2 - 26.61X_3 + 13X_1X_2 + 11.97X_1X_3 + 97.1X_2X_3$
Aroma	$7.8X_1 + 20.19X_2 + 59.24X_3 - 35.18X_1X_2 - 85.25X_1X_3 - 32X_2X_3$
Taste	$5X_1 + 53.5X_2 - 124.3X_3 - 37.2X_1X_2 + 146.6X_1X_3 + 162.1X_2X_3$
Moth feel	$1.19X_1 + 4.36 X_2 - 27.66X_3 + 5.75X_1X_2 + 53.02X_1X_3 + 9.48X_2X_3$
Consistence	$5.7X_1 + 25.25X_2 - 1.13X_3 - 37.11X_1X_2 + 5.44X_1X_3 - 20.84X_2X_3$
Overall acceptability	$4.7X_1 + 30.7X_2 - 172.8X_3 - 51.8X_1X_2 + 210.5X_1X_3 + 206.4X_2X_3$

X1=oat; X2=soybean; X3=linseed

Appendix figure 1: Beta Carotene Standard Curve



Appendix figure 2: Phytate standard curve



Appendix figure 3: Tannin standard curve



Appendix table 10: Sensory evaluation questionnaire form

Please look at and taste each sample of gruel in order from left to right as shown on the ballot. Indicate how much you like or dislike each sample by checking the appropriate phrase of category which is listed below and mark your choice with the number that corresponds to your preference on each parameter.

1. Dislike Very Much

4. Like

2. Dislike

5. Like Very Much

3. Neither Like or Dislike

Sample code	Appearance	Aroma	Taste	Mouth feel	consistency	Overall
						acceptability
210						
211						
200						
201						
120						
122						
102						
100						
011						
012						
010						
022						
222						
111						
333						
123						

General Comments /suggestion about the product
